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PART I — FINANCIAL INFORMATION
 
Item 1. Financial Statements

PDF SOLUTIONS, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(unaudited)
(in thousands, except par value)

 
 

  
June 30,

2012   
December 31,

2011  
ASSETS       

Current assets:       
Cash and cash equivalents  $ 50,176  $ 46,041 
Short-term investments   784   — 
Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $291 and $254, respectively   26,976   20,863 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets   2,800   3,717 

Total current assets   80,736   70,621 
Non-current investments   —   784 
Property and equipment, net   2,420   777 
Intangible assets, net   177   539 
Other non-current assets   1,414   1,663 

Total assets  $ 84,747  $ 74,384 
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY         

Current liabilities:         
Accounts payable  $ 1,546  $ 974 
Accrued compensation and related benefits   7,107   5,026 
Accrued and other current liabilities   2,587   2,335 
Deferred revenues   2,646   2,961 
Billings in excess of recognized revenues   901   2,089 

Total current liabilities   14,787   13,385 
Long-term income taxes payable   3,111   3,489 
Other non-current liabilities   315   667 

Total liabilities   18,213   17,541 
Commitments and contingencies (Note 14)         
Stockholders’ equity:         

Preferred stock, $0.00015 par value, 5,000 shares authorized, no shares issued and outstanding   —   — 
Common stock, $0.00015 par value, 70,000 shares authorized: shares issued 33,012 and 32,635,

respectively; shares outstanding 28,434 and 28,304, respectively   4   4 
Additional paid-in-capital   212,412   208,826 
Treasury stock at cost, 4,578 and 4,331 shares, respectively   (25,062)   (22,899)
Accumulated deficit   (120,470)   (128,789)
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)   (350)   (299)

Total stockholders’ equity   66,534   56,843 
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity  $ 84,747  $ 74,384 

 
See accompanying Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (unaudited).
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PDF SOLUTIONS, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

(unaudited)
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

 
 
  Three Months Ended June 30,   Six Months Ended June 30,  
  2012   2011   2012   2011  
                
Revenues:                

Design-to-silicon-yield solutions  $ 13,793  $ 13,003  $ 27,179  $ 23,570 
Gainshare performance incentives   8,738   4,157   15,995   8,607 

Total revenues   22,531   17,160   43,174   32,177 
                 
Costs of design-to-silicon-yield solutions:                 

Direct costs of design-to-silicon-yield solutions   8,801   7,263   17,373   13,701 
Amortization of acquired technology   105   156   261   312 

Total costs of design-to-silicon-yield solutions   8,906   7,419   17,634   14,013 
Gross profit   13,625   9,741   25,540   18,164 

                 
Operating expenses:                 

Research and development   3,291   3,717   6,448   7,544 
Selling, general and administrative   4,719   5,242   9,624   10,081 
Amortization of other acquired intangible assets   51   51   102   102 
Restructuring charges (credits)   91   (122)   83   (133)

Total operating expenses   8,152   8,888   16,257   17,594 
                 
Income from operations   5,473   853   9,283   570 
Interest and other income (expense), net   155   (32)   13   (411)
Income before income taxes   5,628   821   9,296   159 
Income tax provision   808   922   977   1,018 
Net income (loss)  $ 4,820  $ (101)  $ 8,319  $ (859)
                 
Net income (loss) per share:                 

Basic  $ 0.17  $ (0.00)  $ 0.29  $ (0.03)
Diluted  $ 0.16  $ (0.00)  $ 0.28  $ (0.03)

                 
Weighted average common shares:                 

Basic   28,560   28,110   28,472   27,960 
Diluted   29,560   28,110   29,303   27,960 

                 
                 
Net income (loss)  $ 4,820  $ (101)  $ 8,319  $ (859)
Other comprehensive income:                 

Foreign currency translation adjustments, net of tax   (457)   51   (267)   362 
Reclassification adjustment for other-than-temporary impairment on auction-

rate-securities recognized in earnings, net of tax   216   —   216   — 
Comprehensive income (loss)  $ 4,579  $ (50)  $ 8,268  $ (497)
 

See accompanying Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (unaudited).
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PDF SOLUTIONS, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(unaudited)
(in thousands)

 
  Six Months Ended June 30,  
  2012   2011  
  (In thousands)  
Operating activities:         

Net income (loss)  $ 8,319  $ (859)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by operating activities:         

Depreciation and amortization   191   244 
Stock-based compensation expense   2,224   2,594 
Amortization of acquired intangible assets   363   414 
Deferred taxes   (6)   (174)
Losses on disposal of assets   6   — 
Purchases of treasury stock in connection with tax withholdings on restricted stock grants   (181)   (341)
Provision for doubtful accounts   37   — 
Impairment of investments   216   — 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:         

Accounts receivable   (5,609)   1,266 
Prepaid expenses and other assets   (448)   (270)
Accounts payable   62   315 
Accrued compensation and related benefits   2,134   704 
Accrued and other liabilities   (342)   (18)
Deferred revenues   (322)   (143)
Billings in excess of recognized revenues   (1,188)   208 

Net cash provided by operating activities   5,456   3,940 
Investing activities:         

Purchases of property and equipment   (639)   (238)
Net cash used in investing activities   (639)   (238)

Financing activities:         
Proceeds from exercise of stock options   894   421 
Proceeds from employee stock purchase plan   468   428 
Purchases of treasury stock   (1,982)   (1,028)
Principal payments on debt obligations   —   (56)

Net cash used in financing activities   (620)   (235)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents   (62)   91 
Net change in cash and cash equivalents   4,135   3,558 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period   46,041   38,154 
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period  $ 50,176  $ 41,712 
 
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:         

Cash paid during the period for:         
Income taxes  $ 1,105  $ 925 
Interest  $ —  $ 2 

 
See accompanying Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (unaudited).
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PDF SOLUTIONS, INC.
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

1. BASIS OF PRESENTATION

Basis of Presentation

The interim unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements included herein have been prepared by PDF Solutions, Inc. (“the Company”)
pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”), including the instructions to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
and Article 10 of Regulation S-X. Certain information and footnote disclosures normally included in annual financial statements prepared in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America have been condensed or omitted. The interim unaudited condensed consolidated
financial statements reflect, in the opinion of management, all adjustments necessary (consisting only of normal recurring adjustments), to present a fair
statement of results for the interim periods presented. The operating results for any interim period are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be
expected for other interim periods or the full fiscal year. The accompanying interim unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements should be read in
conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements and notes thereto in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2011.

The condensed consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries after the elimination of all
significant intercompany balances and transactions.

The condensed consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2011 has been derived from the audited consolidated financial statements but does not
include all disclosures required by accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

 
Use of Estimates  —  The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States (“U.S.

GAAP”) requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets
and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Significant estimates in
these financial statements include stock-based compensation expense, allowances for doubtful accounts receivable, estimates for useful lives associated with
long-lived assets, restructuring charges, fair value of investment and income taxes and tax valuation allowances. Actual results could differ from those
estimates.

 
Revision of prior period financial statements —    As previously described in the Company’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the period ended

September 30, 2011 and in the Company’s annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2011, the quarterly results for the fiscal year 2011
have been revised as a result of errors that affected the prior period,  primarily relating to the Company's accounting for stock compensation under its
employee stock purchase plan which was identified during fiscal year of 2011.  Although the effect of those errors was not material to any previously issued
financial statements, the cumulative effect of correcting the identified errors in the current year would have been material for the fiscal year 2011 financial
statements. Consequently, the Company concluded that it needed to revise its prior period financial statements. As part of this revision, the Company
also reversed other previously disclosed out-of-period adjustments, which were immaterial, and recorded them instead in the periods in which the errors
originated. For the three months ended June 30, 2011, net loss increased $44,000 and there is no impact to basic and diluted net loss, as a result of these
revisions. For the six months ended June 30, 2011, net loss increased $203,000 and basic and diluted net loss per share increased $0.01, as a result of these
revisions. These revisions have no net impact on the Company’s net cash amounts provided by (used in) operating, financing or investing activities for the
any of the periods previously reported.

 
Revenue Recognition  — The Company derives revenue from two sources: Design-to-silicon-yield solutions and gainshare performance incentives.

Design-to-Silicon-Yield Solutions — Revenues that are derived from Design-to-silicon-yield solutions come from services and software licenses. The
Company recognizes revenue for each element of Design-to-silicon-yield solutions as follows:
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The Company generates a significant portion of its Design-to-silicon-yield solutions revenues from fixed-price solution implementation service
contracts delivered over a specific period of time. These contracts require reliable estimation of costs to perform obligations and the overall scope of each
engagement. Revenues under project–based contracts for solution implementation services are recognized as services are performed using the cost-to-cost
percentage of completion method of contract accounting. Revenues under time-based contracts for solution implementation services are recognized under
the proportional performance method. Losses on solution implementation contracts are recognized in the period when they become probable. Revisions in
profit estimates are reflected in the period in which the conditions that require the revisions become known and can be estimated. On occasion, the Company
licenses its software products as a component of its fixed-price service contracts. In such instances, the software products are licensed to customers over a
specified term of the agreement with support and maintenance to be provided at each customer's option over the license term. The amount of product and
service revenue recognized in a given period is affected by the Company’s judgment as to whether an arrangement includes multiple deliverables and, if so,
the Company’s determination of the fair value of each deliverable. In general, vendor-specific objective evidence of selling price (“VSOE”) does not exist for
the Company’s solution implementation services and software products and because the Company’s services and products include our unique technology,
the Company is not able to determine third-party evidence of selling price (“TPE”). Therefore, in such circumstances the Company uses best estimated selling
prices (“BESP”) in the allocation of arrangement consideration. In determining BESP, the Company applies significant judgment as the Company’s weighs a
variety of factors, based on the facts and circumstances of the arrangement. The Company typically arrives at BESP for a product or service that is not sold
separately by considering company-specific factors such as geographies, internal costs, gross margin objectives, pricing practices used to establish bundled
pricing, and existing portfolio pricing and discounting. After fair value is established for each deliverable, the total transaction amount is allocated to each
deliverable based upon its relative fair value. Fees allocated to solution implementation services are recognized using the cost-to-cost percentage of
completion method of contract accounting. Fees allocated to software and related support and maintenance are recognized under software revenue
recognition guidance.

 
The Company also licenses its software products separately from its solution implementations. For software license arrangements that do not require

significant modification or customization of the underlying software, software license revenue is recognized under the residual method when (1) persuasive
evidence of an arrangement exists, (2) delivery has occurred, (3) the fee is fixed or determinable, (4) collectability is probable, and (5) the arrangement does
not require services that are essential to the functionality of the software. When arrangements include multiple elements such as support and maintenance,
consulting (other than for its fixed price solution implementations), installation, and training, revenue is allocated to each element of a transaction based
upon its fair value as determined by the Company’s VSOE and such services are recorded as services revenue. VSOE for maintenance is generally established
based upon negotiated renewal rates while VSOE for consulting, installation, and training services is established based upon the Company’s customary
pricing for such services when sold separately. Revenue for software licenses with extended payment terms is not recognized in excess of amounts due. For
software license arrangements that require significant modification or customization of the underlying software, the software license revenue is recognized as
services are performed using the cost-to-cost percentage of completion method of contract accounting, and such revenue is recorded as services revenue.

Gainshare Performance Incentives  — When the Company enters into a contract to provide yield improvement services, the contract usually includes two
components: (1) a fixed fee for performance by the Company of services delivered over a specific period of time; and (2) a gainshare performance incentive
component where the customer may pay a variable fee, usually after the fixed fee period has ended. Revenue derived from gainshare performance incentives
represents profit sharing and performance incentives earned based upon the Company’s customers reaching certain defined operational levels established in
related solution implementation service contracts. Gainshare performance incentives periods are usually subsequent to the delivery of all contractual services
and therefore have no cost to the Company. Due to the uncertainties surrounding attainment of such operational levels, the Company recognizes gainshare
performance incentives revenue (to the extent of completion of the related solution implementation contract) upon receipt of performance reports or other
related information from the customer supporting the determination of amounts and probability of collection.

2. RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

In December 2011, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) amended its guidance related to the disclosures about offsetting assets and
liabilities. The standard requires the Company to disclose information about offsetting and related arrangements to enable users of its financial statements to
understand the effect of those arrangements on its financial position. The guidance is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1,
2013, and interim periods within those annual periods. The disclosures are to be applied retrospectively for all comparative periods presented. The Company
does not expect that this guidance will have an impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements as it is disclosure-only in nature.
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In June 2011, the FASB amended its guidance related to the presentation of comprehensive income to increase comparability between U.S. GAAP and
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). This amended guidance eliminates the current option to report other comprehensive income and its
components in the statement of changes in equity and instead requires presenting in one continuous statement or two separate but consecutive statements.
Additionally, the amendment requires entities to present reclassification adjustments to show the effect of reclassifications on both the components of other
comprehensive income and the components of net income in interim and annual financial statements. The amendments are effective for fiscal years, and
interim periods within those years, beginning after December 15, 2011 with early adoption permitted. The guidance is effective for the Company’s fiscal year
beginning January 1, 2012. In October 2011, the FASB decided that the specific requirement to present items that are reclassified from other comprehensive
income to net income alongside their respective components of net income and other comprehensive income will be deferred. Therefore, those requirements
will not be effective for public entities for fiscal years and interim periods within those years beginning after December 15, 2011. The adoption of this
guidance did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements, as it only requires a change in the format of presentation.
 

 In May 2011, the FASB issued a new standard amending U.S. GAAP fair value measurements and disclosures for the purpose of ensuring that fair
value measurement and disclosure requirements are the same across both U.S. GAAP and IFRS. The standard contains amendments changing the wording
used to describe many of the requirements in U.S. GAAP for measuring fair value and for disclosing information about fair value measurements, clarifying the
application of existing fair value measurement requirements and changing a particular principle for measuring fair value or for disclosing information about
fair value measurements. Additionally, the standard expands certain disclosure requirements, including qualitative disclosures selected to level 3 fair value
measurements. Early adoption is not permitted. This guidance is effective for the Company’s fiscal year beginning January 1, 2012. The adoption of this new
standard did not have material impact the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

3. INVESTMENTS

The following table summarizes the Company’s investments at both June 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011 (in thousands):
 

  
Amortized

Cost   

Unrealized
Holding

Gains   

Unrealized
Holding
Losses   

Fair
Value  

Auction-rate securities  $ 1,000   $ —  $ (216)  $ 784  
 

As of June 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011, the Company’s investments consisted entirely of auction-rate securities. Please refer to Note 13 “Fair Value
Measurements” for further discussion of auction-rate securities.

4. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

Accounts receivable include amounts that are unbilled at the end of the period. Unbilled accounts receivable are determined on an individual contract
basis and were approximately $8.9 million and $11.0 million as of June 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011, respectively.

5.   PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
 
Property and equipment consists of (in thousands):
 

  
June 30,

2012   
December 31,

2011  
       
Property and equipment, net:         

Computer equipment   11,784    12,642  
Software   3,498    3,543  
Furniture, fixtures and equipment   906    1,060  
Leasehold improvements   800    926  
Test equipment   267    — 
Construction-in-progress   1,350    — 

   18,605    18,171  
Less: accumulated depreciation   (16,185)   (17,394)

Total   2,420    777  
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The $1.4 million in construction-in-progress as of June 30, 2012 relates to the construction of test equipment that was classified as prepaid expense and
other current assets as of December 31, 2011. During the quarter ended March 31, 2012, it was determined that the useful life of the test equipment is more
than one year. The Company plans to depreciate the test equipment over the estimated useful life of 5 years as they are put in use.

6. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
 

The following table provides information relating to the intangible assets as of June 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011 (in thousands):
 
  June 30, 2012  

Acquired Identifiable Intangible  
Amortization
Period (Years)   

Gross
Carrying
Amount   

Accumulated
Amortization   

 
Net Carrying

Amount  
Acquired technology  4 - 5   $ 11,800   $ (11,800)  $ — 
Brand name   4     510    (510)   — 
Customer relationships and backlog  1 - 6    3,420    (3,384)   36  
Patents and applications   7     1,400    (1,259)   141  
Other acquired intangibles   4     255    (255)   — 

Total       $ 17,385   $ (17,208)  $ 177  
 
  December 31, 2011  

Acquired Identifiable Intangible  
Amortization
Period (Years)   

Gross
Carrying
Amount   

Accumulated
Amortization   

Net Carrying
Amount  

Acquired technology  4 - 5   $ 11,800   $ (11,539)  $ 261  
Brand name   4     510    (510)   — 
Customer relationships and backlog  1 - 6    3,420    (3,320)   100  
Patents and applications   7     1,400    (1,222)   178  
Other acquired intangibles   4     255    (255)   — 

Total       $ 17,385   $ (16,846)  $ 539  
 
 

For the three months ended June 30, 2012 and 2011, intangible asset amortization expense was $156,000 and $207,000, respectively. For the six months
ended June 30, 2012 and 2011, intangible asset amortization expense was $363,000 and $414,000, respectively.

The Company expects the annual amortization of intangible assets to be as follows (in thousands):
 
Year Ending December 31,  Amount  
2012 (remaining six-month period)  $ 73 
2013   74 
2014   30 
Total  $ 177 
 

Intangible assets are amortized over their useful lives unless these lives are determined to be indefinite. Intangible assets are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset or asset group may not be recoverable. During the three months
and six months ended June 30, 2012 and 2011, there were no indicators of impairment related to the Company’s intangible assets.
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7. STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Stock-based compensation is estimated at the grant date based on the award’s fair value and is recognized on a straight-line basis over the vesting
periods of the applicable stock purchase rights and stock options, generally four years. Stock-based compensation expenses before taxes related to the
Company’s stock plans and employee stock purchase plan were allocated as follows (in thousands):

  
Three Months

Ended June 30,   
Six Months

Ended June 30,  
  2012   2011   2012   2011  
Cost of design-to-silicon yield-solutions  $ 432  $ 522  $ 751  $ 990 
Research and development   251   337   438   680 
Selling, general and administrative   636   614   1,035   924 

Stock-based compensation expenses  $ 1,319  $ 1,473  $ 2,224  $ 2,594 

The Company estimated the fair value of share-based awards granted during the period using the Black-Scholes-Merton option-pricing model with the
following weighted average assumptions, resulting in the following weighted average fair values:

Stock Plans:
 

  
Three Months

Ended June 30,   
Six Months

Ended June 30,  
  2012   2011   2012   2011  
Expected life (in years)   4.87   4.97   4.84   4.94 
Volatility   59.5%  60.8%  59.6%  61.0%
Risk-free interest rate   0.78%  1.64%  0.78%  1.66%
Expected dividend   —   —   —   — 
Weighted average fair value per share of options granted during the period  $ 4.32  $ 3.21  $ 4.21  $ 3.17 
 
Employee Stock Purchase Plan:
 

  
Six Months

Ended June 30,  
  2012   2011  
Expected life (in years)   1.25   1.25 
Volatility   51.1%  47.2%
Risk-free interest rate   0.16%  0.38%
Expected dividend   —   — 
Weighted average fair value of purchase rights granted under the purchase plan  $ 2.33  $ 2.06 
 
 

The Company issued no shares under the Employee Stock Purchase Plan in the three months ended June 30, 2012 and 2011.
 

On June 30, 2012, the Company has in effect the following stock-based compensation plans:

Stock Plans —

At the annual meeting of stockholders on November 16, 2011, the Company’s stockholders approved the 2011 Stock Incentive Plan (the “2011 Plan”).
Under the 2011 Plan, the Company may award stock options, stock appreciation rights, stock grants or stock units covering shares of the Company's common
stock to employees, directors, non-employee directors and contractors. The aggregate number of shares reserved for awards under this plan is 3,200,000
shares, plus up to 3,500,000 shares previously issued under the 2001 Plan that are forfeited or repurchased by the Company or shares subject to awards
previously issued under the 2001 Plan that expire or that terminate without having been exercised or settled in full. In case of awards other than options or
stock appreciation rights, the aggregate number of shares reserved under the plan will be decreased at a rate of 1.33 shares issued pursuant to such awards. The
exercise price for stock options must generally be at prices no less than the fair market value at the date of grant. Stock options generally expire ten years
from the date of grant and become vested and exercisable over a four-year period.
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In 2001, the Company adopted a 2001 Stock Plan (the “2001 Plan”). In 2003, in connection with its acquisition of IDS Systems Inc., the Company
assumed IDS’ 2001 Stock Option / Stock Issuance Plan (the “IDS Plan”).  Both of the 2001 and the IDS Plans expired in 2011.  Stock options granted under
the 2001 and IDS Plans generally expire ten years from the date of grant and become vested and exercisable over a four-year period. Although no new awards
may be granted under the 2001 or IDS Plans, awards made under the 2001 and IDS Plans that are currently outstanding remain subject to the terms of each
such plan.

As of June 30, 2012, the Company has authorized 6.7 million shares of common stock for issuance and exercise of options, of which 5.1 million shares
are available for grant. As of June 30, 2012, there were no outstanding options that had been granted outside of the 2011, 2001 or the IDS Plans (collectively,
the “Stock Plans”).

Stock option activity under the Company’s Stock Plans during the six months ended June 30, 2012 was as follows:
 

  

Number of
Options

(in thousands)   

Weighted
Average

Exercise Price
per Share   

Weighted
Average

Remaining
Contractual
Term (years)   

Aggregate
Intrinsic Value
(in thousands)  

Outstanding, January 1, 2012   3,872  $ 5.91       
Granted   1,085   8.52       
Exercised   (199)   4.41       
Canceled   (135)   6.16       
Expired   (22)   7.78       

Outstanding, June 30, 2012   4,601   6.58   7.35  $ 15,994 
Vested and expected to vest, June 30, 2012   4,221   6.53   7.18  $ 14,955 
Exercisable, June 30, 2012   2,196   6.55   5.58  $ 8,138 
 

The aggregate intrinsic value in the table above represents the total intrinsic value based on the Company’s closing stock price of $9.87 per share as of
June 30, 2012, which would have been received by the option holders had all “in-the-money” option holders exercised their options as of that date. The total
intrinsic value of options exercised during the six months ended June 30, 2012 was $768,000.

As of June 30, 2012, there was $6.6 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested stock options. That cost is expected to be
recognized over a weighted average period of 3.1 years. The total fair value of shares vested during the three months and six months ended June 30, 2012 was
$0.6 million and $1.1 million, respectively.

Nonvested restricted stock units activity during the six months ended June 30, 2012 was as follows:
 

  
Shares

(in thousands)   

Weighted Average
Grant Date

Fair Value Per
Share  

Nonvested, January 1, 2012   303  $ 7.82 
Granted   339   8.71 
Vested   (78)   9.88 
Forfeited   (21)   7.74 

Nonvested, June 30, 2012   543   8.08 
 

As of June 30, 2012, there was $3.4 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to nonvested restricted stock units. That cost is expected to
be recognized over a weighted average period of 3.2 years. The total compensation expense related to shares vested during the six months ended June 30,
2012 was $0.8 million.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan — In July 2001, the Company adopted a ten-year Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“Purchase Plan”) under which eligible
employees can contribute up to 10% of their compensation, as defined in the Purchase Plan, towards the purchase of shares of PDF common stock at a price of
85% of the lower of the fair market value at the beginning of the offering period or the end of the purchase period. The Purchase Plan consists of twenty-four-
month offering periods with four six-month purchase periods in each offering period. Under the Purchase Plan, on January 1 of each year, starting with 2002,
the number of shares reserved for issuance will automatically increase by the lesser of (1) 675,000 shares, (2) 2% of the Company’s outstanding common
stock on the last day of the immediately preceding year, or (3) the number of shares determined by the board of directors. At the annual meeting of
stockholders on May 18, 2010, the Company’s stockholders approved an amendment to the Purchase Plan to extend it through May 17, 2020.  As of June 30,
2012, 1.6 million shares were available for future issuance under the Purchase Plan.
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Stock Repurchase Program — On October 29, 2007, the Board of Directors adopted a program to repurchase up to $10.0 million of the Company’s
common stock on the open market. The initial program was for three years, but on October 19, 2010, the Board of Directors authorized an extension of, and
an increase in, the program and the aggregate amount available to repurchase between October 19, 2010 and October 29, 2012 was reset to an additional
$10.0 million of the Company’s common stock. As of June 30, 2012, 3.6 million shares had been repurchased at the average price of $4.19 per share under
this program and $4.2 million remained available for future repurchases.

8. RESTRUCTURING

On October 28, 2008, the Company announced a restructuring plan to better allocate its resources to improve its operational results in light of the market
conditions. Under this plan, the Company has recorded cumulative restructuring charges of $7.8 million, primarily consisting of employee severance costs of
$4.8 million and facility exit costs of $2.7 million. During the three months ended June 30, 2012, the Company incurred additional net restructuring charges
of $0.1 million related to restructuring additional square footage of office facilities. The facility exit cost consists primarily of the cost of future obligations
related to the locations. Discounted liabilities for future lease costs and the fair value of the related subleases of closed locations that are recorded is subject
to adjustments as liabilities are settled. In assessing the discounted liabilities for future costs of obligations related to the locations, the Company made
assumptions regarding the amounts of future subleases. If these assumptions or their related estimates change in the future, the Company may be required to
record additional exit costs or reduce exit costs previously recorded. Exit costs recorded for each period presented include the effect of such changes in
estimates.

 The following table summarizes the activities of these restructuring liabilities (in thousands) for the periods covered below:
 

  
Three Months

Ended June 30,   
Six Months

Ended June 30,  
  2012   2011   2012   2011  
Beginning balance  $ 622  $ 1,219  $ 728  $ 1,379 

Restructuring charges (credits)   91   (122)   83   (133)
Adjustments   162   7   166   17 
Cash payments   (178)   (161)   (280)   (320)

Ending balance  $ 697  $ 943  $ 697  $ 943 
 

The balance as of June 30, 2012 consists of $0.6 million of facility exit costs and $0.1 million of severance costs. The balance as of December 31, 2011
consists of $0.6 million of facility exit costs and $0.1 million of severance costs. The adjustments primarily represent deferred rent balances recognized at the
cease-use-date during the period.

As of June 30, 2012, of the remaining accrual of $0.7 million, $0.6 million was included in accrued liabilities and other current liabilities and $0.1
million was included in other non-current liabilities. As of December 31, 2011, of the remaining accrual of $0.7 million, $0.5 million was included in accrued
and other current liabilities and $0.2 million was included in other non-current liabilities. Accrued facility exit expenses will be paid in accordance with the
lease payment schedule through 2013.

9. INCOME TAXES

The Company accounts for temporary differences between the book and tax basis of assets and liabilities by recording deferred tax assets and
liabilities. The Company must assess the likelihood that its deferred tax assets will be recovered from future taxable income and, to the extent the Company
believes that recovery is not likely, the Company must establish a valuation allowance. Changes in the Company’s net deferred tax assets and valuation
allowance in a period are recorded through the income tax provision in the condensed consolidated statements of operations.
 

The Company classifies its liabilities related to unrecognized tax benefits as long-term. The Company includes interest and penalties related to
unrecognized tax benefits within the Company’s income tax provision. As of June 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011, the Company had accrued for payment
of interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits of $403,000 and $442,000, respectively.

Income tax provision decreased $41,000 for the six months ended June 30, 2012 to $977,000 as compared to an income tax provision of $1.0 million for
the six months ended June 30, 2011. The income tax provision for both the six months ended June 30, 2012 and the six months ended June 30, 2011
primarily consisted of foreign withholding taxes, statutory taxes and changes in unrecognized tax benefits. The difference in effective tax rate of 10.5% for
the six months ended June 30, 2012 and 56.5% for the year ended December 31, 2011 is primarily due to the impact of the valuation allowance on its U.S.
deferred tax assets.
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The Company’s total amount of unrecognized tax benefits as of June 30, 2012 was $9.4 million, of which $2.7 million, if recognized, would affect the
Company’s effective tax rate. The Company’s total amount of unrecognized tax benefits as of December 31, 2011 was $9.6 million, of which $3.0 million, if
recognized, would affect the Company's effective tax rate. As of June 30, 2012, the Company has recognized a net amount of $3.1 million as long-term taxes
payable for unrecognized tax benefits in its condensed consolidated balance sheet.

 The Company reviewed its conclusions about the appropriate amount of its deferred income tax asset valuation allowance in light of circumstances
existing in current periods and considering the expected future period results. If in the future, we determine based on our future profitability, that these
deferred tax assets are more likely than not to be realized, a release of all, or part, of the related valuation allowance could result in an immediate material
income tax benefit in the period of decrease and material income tax provisions in future periods. Such release of the valuation allowance could occur in the
foreseeable future provided the Company’s results and future profitability continue to remain positive.

The Company conducts business globally and, as a result, files numerous consolidated and separate income tax returns in the U.S. federal, various state
and foreign jurisdictions. Because the Company used some of the tax attributes carried forward from previous years to tax years that are still open, statutes of
limitation remain open for all tax years to the extent of the attributes carried forward into tax year 2002 for federal and California tax purposes. The
Company’s France income tax examinations for 2009 were closed during the three months ended March 31, 2012, with immaterial adjustments.  The
Company is not subject to income tax examinations in any other of its major foreign subsidiaries’ jurisdictions.

10. NET INCOME (LOSS) PER SHARE

Basic net income (loss) per share is computed by dividing net income (loss) by weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the period
(excluding outstanding stock options and shares subject to repurchase). Diluted net loss per share is computed using the weighted-average number of
common shares outstanding for the period plus the potential effect of dilutive securities which are convertible into common shares (using the treasury stock
method), except in cases in which the effect would be anti-dilutive. There are no dilutive shares included during the three and six months ended June 30,
2011 due to the net loss for the period. Under the treasury stock method, the amount that the employee must pay for exercising stock options, the amount of
compensation cost for future service that the Company has not yet recognized, and the amount of the tax benefits that would be recorded in additional paid-
in capital when the award becomes deductible are assumed to be used to repurchase shares.  The following is a reconciliation of the numerators and
denominators used in computing basic and diluted net loss per share (in thousands except per share amount):
 

  
Three Months

Ended June 30,   
Six Months

Ended June 30,  
  2012   2011   2012   2011  
Numerator:                 
Net income (loss)  $ 4,820  $ (101)  $ 8,319  $ (859)
Denominator:                 
Basic weighted average common shares outstanding   28,560   28,110   28,472   27,960 
Dilutive effect of equity incentive plans   1,000   —   831   — 
Diluted weighted average common shares outstanding   29,560   28,110   29,303   27,960 
Net income (loss) per share:                 

Basic  $ 0.17  $ (0.00)  $ 0.29  $ (0.03)
Diluted  $ 0.16  $ (0.00)  $ 0.28  $ (0.03)

 
The following table sets forth potential shares of common stock that are not included in the diluted net income ( loss) per share calculation above

because to do so would be anti-dilutive for the periods indicated (in thousands):
 

  
Three Months

Ended June 30,   
Six Months

Ended June 30,  
  2012   2011   2012   2011  
Outstanding options   1,763   1,948   1,835   1,520 
Nonvested restricted stock units   21   315   31   202 
Employee Stock Purchase Plan   —   64   —   32 

Total   1,784   2,327   1,866   1,754 
 
 

13



 
 
 11. CUSTOMER AND GEOGRAPHIC INFORMATION

Operating segments are defined as components of an enterprise about which separate financial information is available that is evaluated regularly by the
chief operating decision maker, or group, in deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing performance.

The Company’s chief operating decision maker, the chief executive officer, reviews discrete financial information presented on a consolidated basis for
purposes of regularly making operating decisions and assessing financial performance. Accordingly the Company considers itself to be in one operating
segment, specifically the licensing and implementation of yield improvement solutions for companies designing and/or manufacturing integrated circuits.

The Company had revenues from individual customers in excess of 10% of total revenues as follows:
 

  
Three Months

Ended June 30,   
Six Months

Ended June 30,  
Customer  2012   2011   2012   2011  
A   39%  23%  42%  22%
B   20%  18%  20%  18%
C   12%  15%  12%  16%
D   *%  *%  *%  10%
 

*  represents less than 10%

The Company had gross accounts receivable from the following individual customers in excess of 10% of gross accounts receivable as follows:
 

Customer  June 30, 2012   
December 31,

2011  
A   35%  34%
B   23%  23%
C   10%  10%
 

Revenues from customers by geographic area based on the location of the customers’ work sites are as follows (in thousands):
 

  
Three Months

Ended June 30,   
Six Months

Ended June 30,  
  2012   2011   2012   2011  
                 
Europe   7,654   4,849   16,208   9,271 
United States   7,537   4,051   14,409   7,088 
Asia   7,340   8,260   12,557   15,818 
Total  $ 22,531  $ 17,160  $ 43,174  $ 32,177 
 

Long-lived assets, net by geographic area are as follows (in thousands):
 
  June 30, 2012   December 31, 2011  
United States  $ 2,227  $ 595 
Asia   120   100 
Europe   73   82 
Total  $ 2,420  $ 777 
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13. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Fair value is the exit price, or the amount that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants as of the measurement date. The multiple assumptions used to value financial instruments are referred to as inputs, and a hierarchy for inputs used
in measuring fair value is established, that maximizes the use of observable inputs and minimizes the use of unobservable inputs by requiring that the most
observable inputs be used when available. Observable inputs reflect assumptions market participants would use in pricing an asset or liability based on
market data obtained from independent sources while unobservable inputs reflect a reporting entity’s pricing based upon its own market assumptions. These
inputs are ranked according to a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value into three broad levels.

Level 1 — Inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
  
Level 2 — Inputs are quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in an active market, quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets

that are not active, inputs other than quoted prices that are observable and market-corroborated inputs which are derived principally from or
corroborated by observable market data.

  
Level 3 — Inputs are derived from valuation techniques in which one or more significant inputs or value drivers are unobservable.

The following table represents the Company’s assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of June 30, 2012 and the basis for that measurement (in
thousands):
 

Assets  Total   

Quoted Prices
in

Active
Markets for

Identical
Assets

(Level 1)   

Significant Other
Observable

Inputs
(Level 2)   

Significant
Unobservable

Inputs
(Level 3)  

Money market mutual funds  $ 25,351  $ 25,351  $ —  $ — 
Auction-rate securities   784   —   —   784 
Total  $ 26,135  $ 25,351  $ —  $ 784 
 

The following table represents the Company’s assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of December 31, 2011 and the basis for that
measurement (in thousands):
 

Assets  Total   

Quoted Prices
in

Active
Markets for

Identical
Assets

(Level 1)   

Significant Other
Observable

Inputs
(Level 2)   

Significant
Unobservable

Inputs
(Level 3)  

Money market mutual funds  $ 25,339  $ 25,339  $ —  $ — 
Auction-rate securities   784   —   —   784 
Total  $ 26,123  $ 25,339  $ —  $ 784 
 

The Company holds investments in auction-rate securities (“ARS”), which are variable rate debt instruments whose interest rates are reset through a
“Dutch” auction process at regular intervals, typically every 28 days. All ARS are backed by pools of student loans guaranteed by governmental agencies
and private entities, and were rated AAA/Aaa at the date of acquisition. Rating of MBIA (bond insurer on one of the Company’s ARS) was downgraded from
Aaa to A2, by Moody’s Investor Services on June 19, 2008, due to uncertainty in the credit markets and the exposure of these securities to the financial
condition of bond insurance companies.  All ARS have failed to sell at auction since February 2008, and as a result, their interest rates were reset to the
maximum LIBOR + 150 basis points. As a result of these auction failures, there was limited active market with observable prices for these securities.
Therefore, the Company computed the fair value of these securities based on a discounted cash flow model, using significant level 3 inputs, to take into
account the lack of liquidity. The Company's valuation analysis considers, among other items, assumptions that market participants would use in their
estimates of fair value, such as the collateral underlying the security, the creditworthiness of the issuer and any associated guarantees, credit ratings of the
security by the major securities rating agencies, the ability or inability to sell the investment in an active market or to the issuer, the timing of expected future
cash flows, and the expectation of the next time the security will have a successful auction or when call features may be exercised by the issuer. Based on the
methodology and the analysis above, the Company has estimated the fair value of its ARS to be $784,000 as of June 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011.
 

During the three months ended June 30, 2012, the Company’s management made the decision to sell the securities based on its assessment of improving
market conditions. Consequently, the cumulative impairment related to these auction-rate-securities of $216,000 was therefore considered to be other-than-
temporary and is recorded in interest and other income (expense), net in the condensed consolidated statement of operations. As of June 30, 2012 the
Company also reclassified the ARS from long-term investments to short-term investments available-for-sale in the condensed consolidated balance sheets.
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There was no change in the beginning and ending balance of assets measured at fair value on recurring basis using significant unobservable inputs
(Level 3) during the six months ended June 30, 2012.

 
14. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
 

Leases  — The Company leases administrative and sales offices and certain equipment under noncancelable operating leases, which contain various
renewal options and, in some cases, require payment of common area costs, taxes and utilities. These operating leases expire at various times through 2018.
Rent expense was $0.5 million and $0.6 million for the three months ended June 30, 2012 and 2011, respectively. Rent expense was $1.2 million for both the
six months ended June 30, 2012 and 2011. During the three months ended June 30, 2012, the Company entered into a lease agreement to extend the lease
period of a portion of its San Jose, California office facilities through 2018.

Future minimum lease payments under noncancelable operating leases at June 30, 2012 are as follows (in thousands):
 
Year Ending June 30,    
2012 (remaining six months)  $ 1,284  
2013   1,551  
2014   1,617  
2015   1,501  
2016   1,505  
Thereafter   2,371  
Total future minimum lease payments  $ 9,829  
 

The operating lease obligations have been reduced by future minimum sublease rental income of $0.3 million in the remaining six months of 2012 and
$0.4 million in 2013, respectively.

Litigation  — From time to time, the Company is subject to various claims and legal proceedings that arise in the ordinary course of business.
Although the Company currently believes that the ultimate outcome of any of these claims and proceedings, individually and in the aggregate, will not have
a material adverse effect on its financial position or overall trends in results of operations, litigation is subject to inherent uncertainty. If an unfavorable
ruling occurs in any of the legal proceedings described below, our financial position and results of operations and cash flows could be negatively
affected. The Company accrues for losses related to litigation when a potential loss is probable and the loss can be reasonably estimated in accordance with
FASB requirements. With respect to each of the matters below, the Company has determined a potential loss is not probable at this time and, accordingly, no
amount has been accrued at June 30, 2012. As the Company continues to monitor these matters, however, the Company's determination could change
and the Company may decide a different reserve is appropriate in the future.

Philip Steven Melman filed a complaint against the Company and the Company's Chief Executive Officer on December 7, 2009 in the Superior Court for
Santa Clara County. In the complaint, Mr. Melman alleges wrongful discharge based on discrimination, fraud, breach of contract and similar theories, in
connection with the termination of Mr. Melman's employment with the Company. The complaint seeks compensatory and punitive damages, any other
available remedies, as well as attorney's fees and costs. On August 15, 2011, the court issued a definitive ruling granting the Company’s motion for summary
judgment, which final order for this ruling was entered by the court on November 9, 2011. On March 20, 2012, Mr. Melman filed an opening brief with the
Court of Appeals for Santa Clara County appealing this ruling. The Company believes the appeal is without merit and intend to vigorously oppose it.

Global Software Services, Inc., a Palestinian corporation (“GSSI”), filed a complaint against the Company on February 16, 2010 in the Superior Court for
Santa Clara County. In the complaint, GSSI alleged that the Company failed to pay GSSI amounts owed under a Professional Services Agreement pursuant to
which GSSI was providing software-related development and support services to the Company. In addition, GSSI alleged that the Company interfered with
GSSI’s business relationships and employee relationships, and engaged in unfair business practices in violation of Business & Professions Code Section
17200. The complaint sought compensatory and punitive damages, disgorgement and restitution, injunctive relief and any other available equitable
remedies, as well as attorney's fees and costs. On December 2, 2010, the court dismissed GSSI's action with prejudice. On April 14, 2011, Global Software
Systems, LLC ("GSS LLC") filed a Notice of Motion to Intervene in the same matter. On May 4, 2011, Andre Hawit, chief executive officer of GSSI and
president of GSS LLC, filed a complaint (as a cross-cross complainant) against the Company, the Company's Chief Executive Officer and an employee in the
same matter before the Superior Court for Santa Clara County. Both Mr. Hawit and GSS LLC were pursuing claims arising in connection with the subject
matter of the lawsuit originally filed by GSSI. Specifically, Mr. Hawit's cross-cross complaint alleged that the Company interfered with his economic
relationship with GSSI and that the Company engaged in unfair business practices in violation of Business and Professions Code Section 17200. He sought
compensatory damages, punitive damages, restitution and attorney fees and costs. GSS LLC alleged that it was an assignee of the rights of GSSI and that the
court should grant it relief from the default judgment entered against GSSI and permit it to pursue those claims as an assignee. In August 2011, the court
denied all previously filed motions to set aside the dismissal and for GSS LLC to intervene in the action. GSSI and Mr. Hawit filed a notice that they intended
to appeal these rulings. On March 26, 2012, the court dismissed the appeals by GSSI and Mr. Hawit, which orders were entered on April 5, 2012.  On April 5,
2012, the court dismissed with prejudice Mr. Hawit’s complaints against the Company, the Company's Chief Executive Officer and the employee, which
orders were entered by the court on May 2, 2012.
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Forward-Looking Statements

The following discussion of our financial condition and results of operations contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of
the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. In some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements by
terminology such as “may,” “could,” “should,” “expect,” “plan,” “anticipate,” “believe,” “estimate,” “predict,” “potential”, “target” or “continue,” the
negative effect of terms like these or other similar expressions. Any statement concerning future financial performance (including future revenues, earnings or
growth rates), ongoing business strategies or prospects, and possible actions taken by us or our subsidiaries, which may be provided by us are also forward-
looking statements. These forward-looking statements are only predictions. Forward-looking statements are based on current expectations and projections
about future events and are inherently subject to a variety of risks and uncertainties, many of which are beyond our control, which could cause actual results
to differ materially from those anticipated or projected. All forward-looking statements included in this document are based on information available to us on
the date of filing and we further caution investors that our business and financial performance are subject to substantial risks and uncertainties. We assume no
obligation to update any such forward-looking statements. In evaluating these statements, you should specifically consider various factors, including the risk
factors set forth at the end of Item 1A included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

Overview

We analyze our customers’ IC design and manufacturing processes to identify, quantify, and correct the issues that cause yield loss to improve our
customers’ profitability by improving time-to-market, increasing yield and reducing total design and manufacturing costs. We package our solutions in
various ways to meet our customers’ specific business and budgetary needs, each of which provides us various revenue streams. We receive a mix of fixed fees
and variable, performance-based fees for the vast majority of our yield improvement solutions. The fixed fees are typically reflective of the length of time and
the resources needed to characterize a customer’s manufacturing process and receive preliminary results of proposed yield improvement suggestions. The
variable fee, or what we call gainshare, usually depends on our achieving certain yield targets by a deadline.  Variable fees are currently typically tied to
wafer volume on the node and size of the manufacturing facility where we performed the yield improvement solutions. We receive license fees and service
fees for related installation, integration, training, and maintenance and support services for our software that we license on a stand-alone basis.

 

Industry Trend

We believe that logic foundries invested in leading edge nodes and capacity in 2010 and 2011, even though utilization rates fluctuated in 2011. This
investment trend resulted in an increase in our business and improved results of operations in 2011 and the first half of 2012. Although to date in 2012 there
is no clear trend regarding utilization, we may experience fluctuations in our results of operations if there is continued consolidation of foundries and fabless
companies around the world, any major new foundries enter the market or any of our manufacturing customers experience a decrease in orders.
 

Generally, the demand for consumer electronics and communications devices continues to drive technological innovation in the semiconductor industry
as the need for products with greater performance, lower power consumption, reduced costs and smaller size continues to grow with each new product
generation. In addition, advances in computing systems and mobile devices have fueled demand for higher capacity memory chips. To meet these demands,
IC manufacturers and designers are constantly challenged to improve the overall performance of their ICs by designing and manufacturing ICs with more
embedded applications to create greater functionality while lowering cost per transistor. As a result, both logic and memory manufacturers have migrated to
more and more advanced manufacturing nodes, capable of integrating more devices with higher performance, higher density, and lower power. As this trend
continues, companies will continually be challenged to improve process capabilities to optimally produce ICs with minimal random and systematic yield
loss, which is driven by the lack of compatibility between the design and its respective manufacturing process. We believe that as volume production of deep
submicron ICs continues to grow, the difficulties of integrating IC designs with their respective processes and ramping new manufacturing processes will
create a greater need for products and services that address the yield loss and escalating cost issues the semiconductor industry is facing today and will face in
the future.
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Financial Highlights

Financial highlights for the three months ended June 30, 2012 were as follows:

 • Total revenues for the three months ended June 30, 2012 were $22.5 million, an increase of $5.3 million, or 31%, compared to $17.2 million for the
three months ended June 30, 2011. Design-to-silicon-yield solutions revenues for the three months ended June 30, 2012 were $13.8 million, an
increase of $0.8 million, or 6%, compared to $13.0 million for the three months ended June 30, 2011. The increase in Design-to-silicon-yield
solutions revenues was primarily the result of increased business activity during the period. Gainshare performance incentives revenues for the three
months ended June 30, 2012 were $8.7 million, an increase of $4.5 million, or 110%, compared to $4.2 million for the three months ended June 30,
2011. The increase in revenues from Gainshare performance incentives was primarily the result of higher wafer volumes at customer manufacturing
facilities.

 • Net income for the three months ended June 30, 2012 was $4.8 million, compared to net loss of $(0.1) million for the three months ended June 30,
2011. The increase in net income was primarily attributable to a significant increase in revenues.

 • Net income per basic and diluted share was $0.17 and $0.16, respectively, for the three months ended June 30, 2012 compared to net loss per basic
and diluted share of $(0.00) for the three months ended June 30, 2011, an increase of  $0.17 and $0.16 per basic and diluted share, respectively.

 • Cash, cash equivalents and investments increased $4.1 million from $46.8 million at December 31, 2011 to $50.9  million at June 30,
2012,  primarily due to increase in cash from operating activities during the period.

Financial highlights for the six months ended June 30, 2012 were as follows:

 • Total revenues for the six months ended June 30, 2012 was $43.2 million, an increase of $11.0 million, or 34%, compared to total revenues of $32.2
million for the six months ended June 30, 2011. Design-to-silicon-yield solutions revenues for the six months ended June 30, 2012 was $27.2
million, an increase of $3.6 million, or 15%, compared to $23.6 million for the six months ended June 30, 2011. The increase in Design-to-silicon-
yield solutions revenues was primarily the result of increased business activity during the period. Gainshare performance incentives revenues for the
six months ended June 30, 2012 was $16.0 million, an increase of $7.4 million, or 86%, compared to gainshare performance incentive revenues of
$8.6 million for the six months ended June 30, 2011.  The increase in gainshare performance incentives was primarily the result of higher number of
projects reaching performance measures for achieving gainshare and higher wafer volumes at customer manufacturing facilities.

 • Net income for the six months ended June 30, 2012 was $8.3 million, compared to net loss of $(0.9) million for the six months ended June 30, 2011.
The increase in net income was primarily attributable to a significant increase in revenues.

 
 • Net income per basic and diluted share was $0.29 and $0.28, respectively, for the six months ended June 30, 2012 compared to net loss per basic and

diluted share of $(0.03) for the six months ended June 30, 2011, an increase of  $0.32 and $0.31 per basic and diluted share, respectively.

Critical Accounting Policies

There were no significant changes in our critical accounting policies. Please refer to Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations contained in Part II, Item 7 of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2011. The following is a brief
discussion of the more significant accounting policies and methods that we use.

General

Our discussion and analysis of our financial conditions, results of operations and cash flows are based on our consolidated financial statements, which
have been prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Our preparation of these consolidated
financial statements requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities at the dates of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. We based our
estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances. The most significant estimates
and assumptions relate to revenue recognition, stock-based compensation and the realization of deferred tax assets. Actual amounts may differ from such
estimates under different assumptions or conditions.
 
 

18



 
 
Revenue Recognition

We derive revenues from two sources: Design-to-silicon-yield solutions, which include services and software licenses, and Gainshare performance
incentives.

Design-to-Silicon-Yield Solutions — Revenues that are derived from Design-to-silicon-yield solutions comes from services and software licenses. We
recognize revenue for each element of Design-to-silicon-yield solutions as follows:

We generate a significant portion of our Design-to-silicon-yield solutions revenues from fixed-price solution implementation service contracts
delivered over a specific period of time. These contracts require reliable estimation of costs to perform obligations and the overall scope of each
engagement. Revenues under project–based contracts for solution implementation services are recognized as services are performed using the cost-to-
cost percentage of completion method of contract accounting. Revenues under certain time-based contracts for solution implementation services are
recognized under the proportional performance method. Losses on solution implementation contracts are recognized in the period when they become
evident. Revisions in profit estimates are reflected in the period in which the conditions that require the revisions become known and can be estimated. If
we do not accurately estimate the resources required or the scope of work to be performed, or do not manage the projects properly within the planned
period of time or satisfy our obligations under contracts, resulting contract margins could be materially different than those anticipated when the
contracts were executed. Any such reductions in contract margin could have a material negative impact on our operating results.  On occasion, we license
our software products as a component of our fixed price service contracts. In such instances, the software products are licensed to customers over a
specified term of the agreement with support and maintenance to be provided at each customer's option over the license term. The amount of product and
service revenue recognized in a given period is affected by our judgment as to whether an arrangement includes multiple deliverables and, if so, our
determination of the fair value of each deliverable. In general, vendor-specific objective evidence of selling price (“VSOE”)  does not exist for our
solution implementation services and software products and because our services and products include our unique technology, we are not able to
determine third-party evidence of selling price (“TPE”). Therefore, in such circumstances, we use best estimated selling prices (“BESP”) in our allocation
of arrangement consideration. In determining BESP, we apply significant judgment as we weigh a variety of factors, based on the facts and circumstances
of the arrangement. We typically arrive at BESP for a product or service that is not sold separately by considering company-specific factors such as
geographies, internal costs, gross margin objectives, pricing practices used to establish bundled pricing, and existing portfolio pricing and discounting.
After fair value is established for each deliverable, the total transaction amount is allocated to each deliverable based upon its relative fair value. Fees
allocated to solution implementation services are recognized using the cost-to-cost percentage of completion method of contract accounting. Fees
allocated to software and related support and maintenance are recognized under software revenue recognition guidance.

 
We also license our software products separately from our solution implementation services. For software license arrangements that do not require

significant modification or customization of the underlying software, software license revenue is recognized under the residual method when
(1) persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, (2) delivery has occurred, (3) the fee is fixed or determinable, (4) collectability is probable, and (5) the
arrangement does not require services that are essential to the functionality of the software. When arrangements include multiple elements such as
support and maintenance, consulting (other than for our fixed price solution implementations), installation, and training, revenue is allocated to each
element of a transaction based upon its fair value as determined by our VSOE and such services are recorded as services revenues. VSOE for maintenance
is generally established based upon negotiated renewal rates while VSOE for consulting, installation, and training services is established based upon our
customary pricing for such services when sold separately. Revenues for software licenses with extended payment terms are not recognized in excess of
amounts due. For software license arrangements that require significant modification or customization of the underlying software, the software license
revenues are recognized as services are performed using the cost-to-cost percentage of completion method of contract accounting, and such revenues are
recorded as services revenue.

 
Gainshare Performance Incentives  — When we enter into a contract to provide yield improvement services, the contract usually includes two

components: (1) a fixed fee for performance by us of services delivered over a specific period of time; and (2) a gainshare performance incentives component
where the customer may pay a variable fee, usually after the fixed fee period has ended. Revenues derived from gainshare performance incentives represent
profit sharing and performance incentives earned based upon our customers reaching certain defined operational levels established in related solution
implementation service contracts. Gainshare performance incentives periods are usually subsequent to the delivery of all contractual services and therefore
have no cost to us. Due to the uncertainties surrounding attainment of such operational levels, we recognize gainshare performance incentives revenues (to
the extent of completion of the related solution implementation services) upon receipt of performance reports or other related information from our customers
supporting the determination of amounts and probability of collection. Gainshare performance incentives revenues are dependent on many factors which are
outside our control, which can include among others, continued production of the related ICs by our customers, sustained yield improvements by our
customers, and our ability to enter into new Design-to-silicon-yield solutions contracts containing provisions for gainshare performance incentives.
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Stock-Based Compensation

Stock-based compensation is estimated at the grant date based on the award’s fair value and is recognized on a straight-line basis over the vesting
periods of the applicable stock purchase rights and stock options, generally four years. As stock-based compensation expense recognized is based on awards
ultimately expected to vest, it has been reduced for estimated forfeitures. Forfeitures are estimated at the time of grant and revised, if necessary, in subsequent
periods if actual forfeitures differ from those estimates.

 
We have elected to use the Black-Scholes-Merton option-pricing model, which incorporates various assumptions including volatility, expected life and

interest rates. The expected volatility is based on the historical volatility of our common stock over the most recent period commensurate with the estimated
expected life of stock options. The expected life of an award is based on historical experience and on the terms and conditions of the stock awards granted to
employees. The interest rate assumption is based upon observed Treasury yield curve rates appropriate for the expected life of stock options.
 
Income Taxes

Realization of deferred tax assets is dependent on our ability to generate future taxable income and utilize tax planning strategies. We have recorded a
deferred tax asset in the amount that is more likely than not to be realized based on current estimations and assumptions. We evaluate the valuation
allowance on a quarterly basis. Any resulting changes to the valuation allowance will result in an adjustment to income in the period the determination is
made.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements and Accounting Changes

See Note 2 of “Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)” of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for a description of recent
accounting pronouncements and accounting changes, including the expected dates of adoption and estimated effects, if any, on our consolidated financial
statements.

Results of Operations

The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the percentage of total revenues represented by the line items reflected in our condensed
consolidated statements of operations:
 

  
Three Months Ended

June 30,   
Six Months Ended

June 30,  
  2012   2011   2012   2011  
Revenues:             

Design-to-silicon-yield solutions   61%  76%  63%  73%
Gainshare performance incentives   39   24   37   27 

Total revenues   100%  100%  100%  100%
Costs of design-to-silicon-yield solutions:                 

Direct costs of design-to-silicon-yield solutions   39   42   40   43 
Amortization of acquired technology   1   1   1   1 

Total costs of design-to-silicon-yield solutions   40   43   41   44 
Gross Profit   60   57   59   56 
Operating expenses:                 

Research and development   15   22   15   23 
Selling, general and administrative   21   31   23   31 
Amortization of other acquired intangible assets   —   —   —   — 
Restructuring charges (credits)   —   (1)   —   — 

Total operating expenses   36   52   38   54 
Income from operations   24   5   21   2 
Interest and other income (expense), net   1   —   —   (1)
Income before taxes   25   5   21   1 
Income tax provision   4   5   2   3 
Net income (loss)   21%  —%  19%  (2)%
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Comparison of the Three Months Ended June 30, 2012 and 2011
 
  Three Months Ended June 30,   $   %  
Revenues  2012   2011   Change   Change  
(In thousands, except for percentages)   
Design-to-silicon-yield solutions  $ 13,793  $ 13,003  $ 790   6%
Gainshare performance incentives   8,738   4,157   4,581   110%
Total  $ 22,531  $ 17,160  $ 5,371   31%
 

Design-to-Silicon-Yield Solutions . Design-to-silicon-yield solutions revenue is derived from services (including solution implementations, software
support and maintenance, consulting, and training) and software licenses, provided during our customer yield improvement engagements as well as during
solution product sales.  Design-to-silicon-yield solutions revenue increased $0.8 million for the three months ended June 30, 2012 compared to the three
months ended June 30, 2011, primarily due to an increase in fixed fee integrated solutions, the result of increased business activity in the period.  Our Design-
to-silicon-yield solutions revenues may fluctuate in the future and are dependent on a number of factors, including the semiconductor industry’s acceptance
of our products, the timing of purchases by existing customers, and our ability to attract new customers and penetrate new markets including photovoltaic
and LED, and further penetration of our current customer base. Fluctuations in future results may also occur if any of our significant customers renegotiate
pre-existing contractual commitments due to adverse changes in their own businesses or, in some cases, take advantage of contractual provisions that permit
the suspension of contracted work for a period if their business experiences a financial hardship.

  Gainshare Performance Incentives. Gainshare performance incentives revenue represents profit sharing and performance incentives earned based upon
our customers reaching certain defined operational levels. Revenue derived from gainshare performance incentives increased $4.5 million for the three
months ended June 30, 2012 compared to the three months ended June 30, 2011.  The increase was primarily the result of a higher number of projects
reaching performance measures for achieving gainshare and higher wafer volumes at customers’ manufacturing facilities. The revenue from gainshare
performance incentives was generated from eight customers and eleven engagements for the three months ended June 30, 2012 and six customers and six
engagements for the three months ended June 30, 2011. Our gainshare performance incentives revenue may continue to fluctuate from period to period.
Gainshare performance incentives revenue is dependent on many factors that are outside our control, including among others, continued production of ICs by
our customers at facilities at which we generate gainshare, sustained yield improvements by our customers, and our ability to enter into new Design-to-
silicon-yield solutions contracts containing provisions for gainshare performance incentives.
 
  Three Months Ended June 30,   $   %  
Cost of Design-to-Silicon-Yield Solutions  2012   2011   Change   Change  
(In thousands, except for percentages)              
Direct costs of design-to-silicon-yield solutions  $ 8,801  $ 7,263  $ 1,538   21%
Amortization of acquired technology   105   156   (51)   (33)%
Total  $ 8,906  $ 7,419  $ 1,487   20%
 

Costs of Design-to-Silicon-Yield Solutions. Costs of Design-to-silicon-yield solutions consist of costs incurred to provide and support our services, costs
recognized in connection with licensing our software, and amortization of acquired technology.

Direct Costs of Design-to-Silicon-Yield Solutions.  Direct costs of Design-to-silicon-yield solutions consist of services costs and software license costs.
Services costs consist of material, labor, overhead costs, and stock-based compensation charges associated with solution implementations. Costs include
purchased materials, employee compensation and related benefits, travel and facilities-related costs. Software license costs consist of costs associated with
licensing third-party software sold in conjunction with our software products and expenses incurred to produce and distribute our product
documentation. Direct costs of Design-to-silicon-yield solutions increased $1.5 million for the three months ended June 30, 2012 compared to the three
months ended June 30, 2011. The increase was primarily due to an increase of $1.7 million in personnel expense, which was the result of additional
headcount needed to support the growth in revenue-generating engagements and an increase of $0.2 million in travel expense related to increased project
activity, only slightly offset by a decrease of $0.3 million in third-party software royalty expense.

Amortization of Acquired Technology . Amortization of acquired technology consists of amortization of intangible assets acquired as a result of certain
business combinations. Amortization of acquired technology expense was $105,000 for the three months ended June 30, 2012 and $156,000 for the three
months ended June 30, 2011. The decrease was primarily due to certain  intangible assets being fully amortized. As of June 30, 2012, all acquired technology
intangible assets have been fully amortized.
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  Three Months Ended June 30,   $   %  
Research and Development  2012   2011   Change   Change  
(In thousands, except for percentages)              
Research and development  $ 3,291  $ 3,717  $ (426)   (11)%

Research and Development. Research and development expenses consist primarily of personnel-related costs to support product development activities,
including compensation and benefits, outside development services, travel and facilities cost allocations, and stock-based compensation charges. Research
and development expenses decreased $0.4 million for the three months ended June 30, 2012 compared to the three months ended June 30, 2011, primarily
due to the decrease in personnel-related and outside service expenses, a result of the decrease in research and development activities due to the timing of
research and development projects. We anticipate our expenses in research and development will fluctuate in absolute dollars from period to period as a
result of the size and the timing of product development projects and revenue generating activity requirements.

  Three Months Ended June 30,   $   %  
Selling, General and Administrative  2012   2011   Change   Change  
(In thousands, except for percentages)              
Selling, general and administrative  $ 4,719  $ 5,242  $ (523)   (10)%
 
 

Selling, General and Administrative. Selling, general and administrative expenses consist primarily of compensation and benefits for sales, marketing
and general and administrative personnel in addition to outside sales commissions, legal and accounting services, marketing communications, travel and
facilities cost allocations, and stock-based compensation charges. Selling, general and administrative expenses decreased $0.5 million for the three months
ended June 30, 2012 compared to the three months ended June 30, 2011, primarily due to lower accounting fees and a decrease in legal-related activities. We
anticipate our selling, general and administrative expenses will fluctuate in absolute dollars from period to period as a result of cost control initiatives and to
support increased selling efforts in the future.

  Three Months Ended June 30,   $   %  
Amortization of Other Acquired Intangible Assets  2012   2011   Change   Change  
(In thousands, except for percentages)              
Amortization of other acquired intangible assets  $ 51  $ 51  $ —   —%

Amortization of Other Acquired Intangible Assets. Amortization of other acquired intangible assets consists of amortization of intangibles acquired as a
result of certain business combinations. Amortization of other acquired intangible assets remained flat for the three months ended June 30, 2012 compared to
the three months ended June 30, 2011. We anticipate amortization of other acquired intangible assets to be $73,000 in the remaining six months in 2012,
$74,000 in 2013, and $30,000 in 2014.

  Three Months Ended June 30,   $   %  
Restructuring Charges (Credits)  2012   2011   Change   Change  
(In thousands, except for percentages)              
Restructuring charges (credits)  $ 91  $ (122)  $ 213   175%
 

Restructuring Charges (Credits). For the three months ended June 30, 2012, we incurred restructuring charges of $0.1 million, which is primarily related
to restructuring additional square footage of office facilities. For the three months ended June 30, 2011, the Company reversed $0.1 million of restructuring
charges due to the sublease of certain previously restructured facilities earlier than previously estimated.
 
  Three Months Ended June 30,   $   %  
Interest and Other Income (Expense), net  2012   2011   Change   Change  
(In thousands, except for percentages)              
Interest and other income (expense), net  $ 155  $ (32)  $ 187   584%

Interest and Other Income (Expense), Net.  For the three months ended June 30, 2012, we recorded interest and other income, net of $0.2 million as
compared to interest and other expense, net of $32,000 for the three months ended June 30, 2011. The interest and other income, net for the three months
ended June 30, 2012 was primarily related to $0.4 million of gains related to the Euro to U.S. Dollar exchange rate, offset by unrealized losses on auction-rate
securities, available-for-sale of $0.2 million. The interest and other loss, net for the three months ended June 30, 2011 was primarily related to losses related
to the Euro to U.S. Dollar exchange rate. We anticipate interest and other income (expense), net will fluctuate in future periods as a result of our projected use
of cash and fluctuations of foreign exchange rates.
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  Three Months Ended June 30,   $    %  
Income Tax Provision  2012   2011   Change   Change  
(In thousands, except for percentages)              
Income tax provision  $ 808  $ 922  $ (114)   (12)%

Income Tax Provision. Our income tax provision primarily consists of foreign withholding taxes, statutory taxes associated with our foreign subsidiaries,
and changes in unrecognized tax benefits.  On a quarterly basis, we evaluate our expected income tax provision based on our year-to-date operations, and
record an adjustment in the current quarter. Income tax provision decreased $0.1 million for the three months ended June 30, 2012 compared to three months
ended June 30, 2011, primarily due to a decrease in foreign withholding taxes. Income tax provision for the three months ended June 30, 2012 and 2011
primarily consisted of foreign withholding taxes, statutory taxes and changes in unrecognized tax benefits.

 

Comparison of the Six Months Ended June 30, 2012 and 2011
 
  Six Months Ended June 30,   $    %  
Revenues  2012   2011   Change   Change  
(In thousands, except for percentages)   
Design-to-silicon-yield solutions  $ 27,179  $ 23,570  $ 3,609   15%
Gainshare performance incentives   15,995   8,607   7,388   86%
Total  $ 43,174  $ 32,177  $ 10,997   34%

Design-to-Silicon-Yield Solutions. Design-to-silicon-yield solutions revenue increased $3.6 million for the six months ended June 30, 2012 compared
to the six months ended June 30, 2011, primarily due to an increase in fixed fee integrated solutions, the result of increased business activity in the period.
Our Design-to-silicon-yield revenues may fluctuate in the future and are dependent on a number of factors, including the semiconductor industry’s
acceptance of our products, the timing of purchases by existing customers, and our ability to attract new customers and penetrate new markets including
photovoltaic and LED, and further penetration of our current customer base. Fluctuations in future results may also occur if any of our significant customers
renegotiate pre-existing contractual commitments due to adverse changes in their own businesses or, in some cases, take advantage of contractual provisions
that permit the suspension of contracted work for a period if their business experiences a financial hardship.

Gainshare Performance Incentives. Revenue derived from gainshare performance incentives increased $7.4 million for the six months ended June 30,
2012 compared to the six months ended June 30, 2011.  The increase was primarily the result of a higher number of projects reaching performance measures
for achieving gainshare and higher wafer volumes at customers’ manufacturing facilities. The revenue from gainshare performance incentives was generated
from eight customers and eleven engagements for the six months ended June 30, 2012 and six customers and six engagements for the six months ended June
30, 2011. Our gainshare performance incentives revenue may continue to fluctuate from period to period. Gainshare performance incentives revenue is
dependent on many factors that are outside our control, including among others, continued production of ICs by our customers at facilities at which we
generate gainshare, sustained yield improvements by our customers, and our ability to enter into new Design-to-silicon-yield solutions contracts containing
provisions for gainshare performance incentives.

  Six Months Ended June 30,   $    %  
Cost of Design-to-Silicon-Yield Solutions  2012   2011   Change   Change  
(In thousands, except for percentages)              
Direct costs of design-to-silicon-yield solutions  $ 17,373  $ 13,701  $ 3,672   27%
Amortization of acquired technology   261   312   (51)   (16)%
Total  $ 17,634  $ 14,013  $ 3,621   26%

Direct Costs of Design-to-Silicon-Yield Solutions.  Direct costs of Design-to-silicon-yield solutions increased $3.7 million for the six months ended June
30, 2012 compared to the six months ended June 30, 2011. The increase was primarily due to an increase of $3.6 million in personnel expense, which was the
result of additional headcount needed to support the growth in revenue-generating engagements and an increase of $0.3 million in travel expense related to
increased project activity, only slightly offset by a decrease of $0.3 million in third-party software royalty expense.

Amortization of Acquired Technology . Amortization of acquired technology expense was $261,000 for the six months ended June 30, 2012 and
$312,000 for the six months ended June 30, 2011. The decrease was primarily due to certain intangible assets being fully amortized. As of June 30, 2012, all
acquired technology intangible assets have been fully amortized.
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  Six Months Ended June 30,   $    %  
Research and Development  2012   2011   Change   Change  
(In thousands, except for percentages)              
Research and development  $ 6,448  $ 7,544  $ (1,096)   (15)%
 

Research and Development. Research and development expenses decreased $1.1 million for the six months ended June 30, 2012 compared to the six
months ended June 30, 2011, primarily due to the decrease in personnel-related and outside service expenses, a result of the decrease in research and
development activities due to the timing of research and development projects. We anticipate our expenses in research and development will fluctuate in
absolute dollars from period to period as a result of cost control initiatives and the timing of when we hire personnel as a result of the size and the timing of
product development projects and revenue generating activity requirements.

  Six Months Ended June 30,   $    %  
Selling, General and Administrative  2012   2011   Change   Change  
(In thousands, except for percentages)              
Selling, general and administrative  $ 9,624  $ 10,081  $ (457)   (5)%

Selling, General and Administrative. Selling, general and administrative expenses decreased $0.5 million for the six months ended June 30, 2012
compared to the six months ended June 30, 2011, primarily due to a decrease of $1.2 million in lower accounting fees and decreased legal-related activities,
partially offset by an increase of $0.7 million in personnel-related expense due to increase in headcount.

  Six Months Ended June 30,   $    %  
Amortization of Other Acquired Intangible Assets  2012   2011   Change   Change  
(In thousands, except for percentages)              
Amortization of other acquired intangible assets  $ 102  $ 102  $ —   —%

Amortization of Other Acquired Intangible Assets. Amortization of other acquired intangible assets remains flat for the six months ended June 30, 2012
compared to the six months ended June 30, 2011. We anticipate amortization of other acquired intangible assets to be $73,000 in the remaining six months
in 2012, $74,000 in 2013, and $30,000 in 2014.

  Six Months Ended June 30,   $    %  
Restructuring Charges (Credits)  2012   2011   Change   Change  
(In thousands, except for percentages)              
Restructuring charges (credits)  $ 83  $ (133)  $ 216   162%

Restructuring Charges (Credits).   For the six months ended June 30, 2012, we incurred restructuring charges of $0.1 million, which is primarily related
to a decision to restructure additional square footage of office facilities.  For the six months ended June 30, 2011, the Company reversed $0.1 million of
restructuring charges due to the sublease of certain previously restructured facilities earlier than previously estimated.

  Six Months Ended June 30,   $    %  
Interest and Other Income (Expense), Net  2012   2011   Change   Change  
(In thousands, except for percentages)              
Interest and other income (expense), net  $ 13  $ (411)  $ 424   103%

Interest and Other Income (Expense), Net.  For the six months ended June 30, 2012, we recorded interest and other income, net of $13,000 as compared to
interest and other expense, net of $0.4 million for the six months ended June 30, 2011. The interest and other income, net for the six months ended June 30,
2012 was primarily related to $0.2 million of gains related to the Euro to U.S. Dollar exchange rate, offset by unrealized losses on auction-rate securities,
available-for-sale of $0.2 million. The interest and other expense, net for the six months ended June 30, 2011 was primarily related to losses related to the
Euro to U.S. Dollar exchange rate. We anticipate interest and other income (loss), net will fluctuate in future periods as a result of our projected use of cash
and fluctuations of foreign exchange rates.

  Six Months Ended June 30,   $    %  
Income Tax Provision  2012   2011   Change   Change  
(In thousands, except for percentages)              
Income tax provision  $ 977  $ 1,018  $ (41)   (4)%
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Income Tax Provision. Income tax provision decreased $41,000 for the six months ended June 30, 2012 compared to the six months ended June 30,
2011, primarily due to a decrease in foreign withholding taxes. Income tax provision for the six months ended June 30, 2012 and 2011 primarily consisted of
foreign withholding taxes, statutory taxes and changes in unrecognized tax benefits.
 
 
Liquidity and Capital Resources

Operating Activities

Cash flows used in operating activities of $5.5 million for the six months ended June 30, 2012 consisted primarily of net income of $8.3 million and
non-cash charges of $2.9 million that was offset by $5.7 million of cash flow decreases reflected in the net change of operating assets and liabilities.  Non-
cash charges consisted primarily of stock-based compensation of $2.2 million, amortization of acquired intangible assets of $0.4 million, depreciation of $0.2
million, impairment of auction-rate securities of $0.2 million, partially offset by purchases of treasury stock of $0.2 million for employee income tax
withholdings due upon vesting of restricted stock units. Cash flow decreases resulting from the net change in operating assets and liabilities primarily
consisted of $5.6 million increase in accounts receivable, a $0.4 million increase in prepaid expense and other assets, a $0.3 million decrease in accrued and
other liabilities, a $0.3 million decrease in deferred revenues, and a $1.2 million decrease in billings in excess of recognized revenue, partially offset by a
$2.1 million increase in accrued compensation and related benefits.  The $7.1 million combined cash flow decrease resulted from the increase in accounts
receivable and decrease in combined billings in excess of recognized revenues and deferred revenue due to the timing of billing milestones and payments
received.

Cash flows from operating activities of $3.9 million for the six months ended June 30, 2011 consisted primarily of net loss of $0.9 million that was offset
by $2.7 million of non-cash charges and $2.1 million of cash flow increases reflected in the net change of operating assets and liabilities. Non-cash charges
consisted primarily of stock-based compensation of $2.6 million, amortization of acquired intangible assets of $0.4 million and depreciation of $0.2 million,
partially offset by purchases of treasury stock of $0.3 million for employee income tax withholdings due upon vesting of restricted stock units and deferred
taxes of $0.2 million.  Cash flow increases resulting from the net change in assets and liabilities primarily consisted of a decrease of $1.3 million of accounts
receivable, a $0.7 million increase in accrued compensation, a $0.3 million increase in accounts payable, and a $0.2 million increase in billings in excess of
recognized revenue, partially offset by $0.3 million increase in prepaid expenses and other assets, and a $0.1 million decrease in deferred revenue.  The $1.3
million combined cash flow increase resulted from the decrease in accounts receivable and decrease in billings in excess of recognized revenues due to the
timing of billing milestones and payments received. The increase in accrued compensation primarily reflects employee stock purchase plan contribution
levels prior to purchase of Company stock next quarter and accrued costs related to the separation of the Company’s Chief Administration Officer in the
second quarter of 2011.

Investing Activities

Cash flows used in investing activities of $0.6 million and $0.2 million for the six months ended June 30, 2012 and 2011, respectively, consisted of
payments for capital expenditures.

Financing Activities

Cash flows used in financing activities of $0.6 million for the six months ended June 30, 2012 consisted primarily of repurchases of 227,000 shares of
our common stock for $2.0 million on the open market during the period, offset by $0.9 million of proceeds from the exercise of stock options and $0.5
million of proceeds from our Employee Stock Purchase Plan.

Cash flows provided by financing activities of $0.2 million for the six months ended June 30, 2011 consisted primarily of repurchases of 168,000 shares
of our common stock for $1.0 million on the open market during the period and $0.1 million of principal payments on debt obligations, offset by $0.4
million of proceeds from the exercise of stock options and $0.4 million of proceeds from our Employee Stock Purchase Plan.

Liquidity

As of June 30, 2012, our working capital, defined as total current assets less total current liabilities, was $65.9 million, compared with $57.2 million as of
December 31, 2011. Cash and cash equivalents were $50.2 million as of June 30, 2012, compared to $46.0 million as of December 31, 2011.  As of June 30,
2012 and December 31, 2011, cash and cash equivalents held by our foreign subsidiaries were not material. We anticipate that our overall expenses, as well
as planned capital expenditures, may constitute a material use of our cash resources. In addition, we may use cash resources to repurchase common stock or
fund potential investments in, or acquisitions of complementary products, technologies or businesses. We believe that our existing cash resources and
anticipated funds from operations will satisfy our cash requirements to fund our operating activities, capital expenditures and other obligations for at least the
next twelve months. However, in the event that during such period, or thereafter, we are not successful in generating sufficient cash flows from operations we
may need to raise additional capital through private or public financings, strategic relationships or other arrangements, which may not be available to us on
acceptable terms or at all.
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As of June 30, 2012, our short-term investments included auction-rate securities with a fair value of $784,000. The auction-rate securities are measured at
fair value using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3 inputs) and accounted for approximately 3% of total assets that are measured at fair value on a
recurring basis. See Note 13 to “Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)” in Part I, and Item 3. “Quantitative and Qualitative
Disclosures About Market Risk” in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for further discussion.
 
Off-Balance Sheet Agreements

We do not have any off-balance sheet arrangements, investments in special purpose entities or undisclosed borrowings or debt.

We indemnify certain customers from third-party claims of intellectual property infringement relating to the use of our products. Historically, costs
related to these guarantees of indemnification have not been significant. We are unable to estimate the maximum potential impact of these guarantees on our
future results of operations.

Contractual Obligations

The following table summarizes our known contractual obligations (in thousands):
 
  Payments Due by Period  

Contractual Obligations (1)  

2012
(remaining six

months)  2013  2014   2015  2016

 

Thereafter   Total  
Operating lease obligations

(2)   1,284 1,551  1,617   1,501 1,505
 

 2,371  $ 9,829 
 
 

 (1) The contractual obligation table above excludes liabilities for uncertain tax positions of $2.7 million, which are not practicable to assign to any
particular years, due to the inherent uncertainty of the tax positions.  See Note 9 of “Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements” for further
discussion.

 (2) The operating lease obligations have been reduced by future minimum sublease rental income of $0.3 million in 2012 and $0.4 million in 2013,
respectively. 

 
Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

The following discusses our exposure to market risk related to changes in interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates. We do not currently own
any equity investments, nor do we expect to own any in the foreseeable future. This discussion contains forward-looking statements that are subject to risks
and uncertainties. Actual results could vary materially as a result of a number of factors.

Interest Rate Risk.   As of June 30, 2012, we had cash and cash equivalents of $50.2 million. Cash and cash equivalents consisted of cash and highly
liquid money market instruments. We would not expect our operating results or cash flows to be affected to any significant degree by the effect of a sudden
change in market interest on our portfolio. A hypothetical increase in market interest rates of 100 basis points from the market rates in effect at June 30, 2012
would cause the fair value of these investments to decrease by an immaterial amount which would not have significantly impacted our financial position or
results of operations. Declines in interest rates over time will result in lower interest income and interest expense.

As of June 30, 2012 we held auction-rate securities with a par value of $1.0 million. Auction-rate securities are variable rate debt instruments whose
interest rates are reset through a “Dutch” auction process at regular intervals, typically every 28 days. A portion of these securities are insured by third party
bond insurers and are collateralized by student loans guaranteed by governmental agencies and private entities. The liquidity of the securities has been
negatively impacted by the uncertainty in the credit markets and the exposure of these securities to the financial condition of bond insurance companies. All
auction-rate securities we hold have been failing to sell at auction since February 2008 due to an insufficient number of bidders. Therefore we reviewed the
value of these securities for impairment. In addition, during the three months ended June 30, 2012, the Company’s management made the decision to sell the
securities based on its assessment of improving market conditions. Consequently, the cumulative impairment related to these auction-rate-securities of
$216,000 was therefore considered to be other-than-temporary and is recorded in interest and other income (expense), net in the condensed consolidated
statement of operations during the three months ended June 30, 2012. Based on recent market stabilization and strengthening, we do not expect to sell these
securities materially below their current estimated fair values. If market conditions worsen, however, we may have to further adjust the estimated fair value
and record additional impairment charges to earnings in future periods.
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Foreign Currency and Exchange Risk.   Certain of our payables for our international offices are denominated in the local currency, including the Euro,
Yen and RMB. Therefore, a portion of our operating expenditures is subject to foreign currency risks. The effect of an immediate 10% adverse change in
exchange rates on foreign denominated payables as of June 30, 2012 would result in a loss of approximately $0.6 million. As of June 30, 2012, we did not
have outstanding hedging contracts, although we may enter into such contracts in the future. We intend to monitor our foreign currency exposure. Future
exchange rate fluctuations may have a material negative impact on our business.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures
 
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
 

Our management, with the participation of our principal executive officer and principal financial and accounting officer, evaluated the effectiveness of
our "disclosure controls and procedures" as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) as of June 30, 2012 in connection with the filing of this
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. Based on that evaluation as of June 30, 2012, our principal executive officer and principal financial and accounting officer
concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective to ensure that information we are required to disclose in reports that we file or submit
under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in rules and forms of the SEC and accumulated
and communicated to our management as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.
   
Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
 

There were no changes in the Company's internal control over financial reporting during the three months ended June 30, 2012 that have materially
affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company's internal control over financial reporting.
 

PART II — OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings

Item 3, “Legal Proceedings,” on page 16 of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2011, provides information on certain
legal proceedings and claims in which we are involved. Other than as set forth below, there have been no subsequent material developments to these matters
or that information.
 

With respect to the claim filed by Mr. Melman against us and our Chief Executive Officer on December 7, 2009 in the Superior Court for Santa Clara
County, the court issued a definitive ruling on August 15, 2011 granting our motion for summary judgment, which final order for this ruling was entered by
the court on November 9, 2011.  On March 20, 2012, Mr. Melman filed an opening brief with the Court of Appeals for Santa Clara County appealing this
ruling. We believe the appeal is without merit and intend to vigorously oppose it.

With respect to the claim filed by Global Software Services, Inc. against us and our Chief Executive Officer in the Superior Court for Santa Clara County,
which was dismissed with prejudice in December 2010, and all previously filed motions to set aside the dismissal and for Global Software Systems, LLC
("GSS LLC") to intervene in the same action, which were denied by the court in August 2011, on March 26, 2012, the court dismissed the appeals by GSSI
and Mr. Hawit of these rulings, which orders were entered on April 5, 2012. With respect to the claim filed by Andre Hawit against the Company, our Chief
Executive Officer and an employee, on April 5, 2012, the court dismissed with prejudice Mr. Hawit’s complaints against the Company, our Chief Executive
Officer, and the employee, which orders were entered by the court on May 2, 2012.
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Item 1A. Risk Factors

It typically takes us a long time to sell our unique solutions to new customers and into new markets, and that can result in uncertainty and delays in
generating revenues.

Our gainshare performance incentives business model is unique and our Design-to-silicon-yield solutions are often unfamiliar to new customers. This
results in a long sales cycle and requires a significant amount of our senior management’s time and effort. Furthermore, we need to target those individuals
within a customer’s organization who have overall responsibility for the profitability of an integrated circuit (“IC”). These individuals tend to be senior
management or executive officers. We may face difficulty identifying and establishing contact with such individuals. Even after initial acceptance, due to the
complexity of structuring the gainshare performance incentives component, the negotiation and documentation processes can be lengthy. It can take nine
months or more to reach a signed contract with a customer. Unexpected delays in our sales cycle could cause our revenues to fall short of expectations. Our
efforts to leverage our FDC technology in the relatively new market of the solar panel industry may not be successful. Further, ongoing negotiations and
evaluation projects with photovoltaic manufacturers may not result in significant revenues for us if we are unable to close new engagements in these markets
on terms favorable to us, in a timely manner, or at all, or if we are unable to successfully deliver our products and services to such markets.

We generate a large percentage of our revenues from a limited number of customers, so decreased volumes at any one of these customers, or the loss of any
one of these customers could significantly reduce our revenue and results of operations below expectations.

Historically, we have had a small number of large customers for our core Design-to-silicon-yield solutions and we expect this to continue in the near term. In
the year ended December 31, 2011, three customers accounted for 58% of our revenues, with Global Foundries representing 24%, IBM representing 19% and
Samsung representing 15%. In the year ended December 31, 2010, four customers accounted for 60% of our revenues, with Global Foundries representing
19%, Toshiba representing 18%, Samsung representing 12% and IBM representing 11%. In the year ended December 31, 2009, three customers accounted for
47% of our revenues, with IBM representing 19%, Toshiba representing 17% and Global Foundries representing 11%. We could lose a customer due to its
decision not to engage us on future process nodes, its decision not to develop its own future process node, or as a result of industry factors, including
consolidation. The loss of any of these customers or a decrease in the manufacturing or sales volumes of their products could significantly reduce our total
revenue below expectations. Further, if any of these customers default, declare bankruptcy or otherwise delay or fail to pay amounts owed, our results of
operations would be negatively affected in the short term and possibly the long term. These customers may seek to renegotiate pre-existing contractual
commitments due to adverse changes in their own businesses or, in some cases, take advantage of contractual provisions that permit the suspension of
contracted work for some period if their business experiences a financial hardship, which would harm our operating results.  In particular, these events could
cause significant fluctuations in results of operations because our expenses are fixed in the short term and it takes us a long time to replace customers or
reassign resources.
 
If semiconductor designers and manufacturers do not continue to adopt, or they significantly delay adoption of, our Design-to-silicon-yield solutions, our
revenues will suffer.

If semiconductor designers and manufacturers do not continue to adopt our Design-to-silicon-yield solutions, both as currently comprised and as we may
offer them in the future, our revenues will decline. We may not be successful if we do not continue to enter into agreements with existing customers and new
customers that cover a larger number of IC products and processes and manufacturing facilities. If we do not continue to develop customer relationships with
companies that are integrated device manufacturers (“IDMs”), fabless semiconductor companies, and foundries, as well as system manufacturers, the market
acceptance of our solutions will suffer. Factors that may limit adoption of our Design-to-silicon-yield solutions by semiconductor companies include:

 • our existing and potential customers’ delay in their adoption of the current or next process technology;

 • IDMs of logic ICs discontinuing or significantly cutting back their investment in the development of new process technology as a result of a shift to
a model of outsourcing a larger proportion, or all, of the mass production of their ICs;

 • our inability to keep pace with the rapidly evolving technologies and equipment used in the semiconductor design and manufacturing processes;

 • our customers’ failure to achieve satisfactory yield improvements using our Design-to-silicon-yield solutions;
  

 • fewer processes being developed at our customers and, therefore, a reduction in the potential impact our solutions can add at any single customer;
and

 • our inability to develop, market, or sell effective solutions that are outside of our traditional logic focus of manufacturing process solutions.
 
Decreases in wafer volumes at our customers’ manufacturing sites or the volume of ICs that some of our customers are able to sell to their customers would
cause our Gainshare performance incentives revenue to suffer.
 
 

28



 
 

Our Gainshare performance incentives revenue is largely determined by wafer volumes at manufacturing sites covered by our contracts and, in some
cases, the volume of an IC product that our customer is able to sell to its customers.  Both of these factors are outside of our control.  Further, some of our
manufacturing customers’ business is largely dependent on single-source customers.  If those customers reduce orders or move the orders to manufacturing
facilities not covered by our contracts, our Gainshare performance incentives revenue will decrease.  Reduced demand for semiconductor products decreases
the volume of wafers and, in some cases, products our customers are able to sell, which would also directly decrease our Gainshare performance incentives
revenue.  Also, our customers may unilaterally decide to implement changes to their manufacturing processes during the period that is covered by Gainshare
performance incentives, which could negatively affect yield results and our revenue.  Since we currently work on a small number of large projects at a
specified manufacturing sites and, in some cases, on specific IC products, our results of operations are adversely affected by negative changes at those sites or
in those products.  For example, if wafer orders from sites covered by our contracts are not secured by our customers, if an end product does not achieve
commercial viability, if a process line or, in some cases, a specific product, do not achieve significant increases in yield or sustain significant volume
manufacturing during the time we receive  Gainshare performance incentives, revenues associated with such volumes or products would be negatively
impacted.  This could significantly reduce our revenue and results of operations below expectations. In addition, if we work with two directly competitive
manufacturing facilities or products, volume in one may offset volume, and thus any of our related Gainshare performance incentives, in the other facility or
product.

The semiconductor market is volatile and unpredictable, which limits our ability to forecast our business and could negatively impact our results of
operations.

The semiconductor industry historically has been volatile with up cycles and down cycles, due to sudden changes in customers’ manufacturing capacity
requirements and spending, which depend in part on capacity utilization, demand for customers’ IC products by consumers, inventory levels relative to
demand, and access to affordable capital. For example, in 2008 and 2009, the semiconductor industry experienced significant challenges as a result of the
severe tightening of the credit markets, turmoil in the financial markets, and weakened global economy.   As a result of the various factors that affect this
volatility, the timing and length of any cycles can be difficult to predict.  Economic uncertainty exacerbates negative trends in consumer spending and may
again cause some of our customers to delay or refrain altogether from entering into new engagements, licensing new or additional software products, or
renewing maintenance and support for existing licensed software. This will negatively affect our revenues. Difficulties in obtaining capital and deteriorating
market conditions may also lead to the inability of some customers to obtain affordable financing for other purchases, which could tie up funds otherwise
budgeted for purchases of our solutions and technologies. Customers with liquidity issues may also lead to additional bad debt expense. Further, uncertainty
about future global economic conditions and any affect on the semiconductor industry could make it challenging for us to forecast our operating results,
make business decisions, and identify the risks that may affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. If we are not able to timely and
appropriately adapt to changes resulting from the difficult macroeconomic environment, our business, financial condition, and results of operations may be
significantly negatively affected.
 
Our solution implementations may take longer than budgeted, which could cause us to lose customers and may result in adjustments to our operating
results.

Our solution implementations require a team of engineers to collaborate with our customers to address complex yield loss issues by using our software
and other technologies. We must estimate the amount of time needed to complete an existing solution implementation in order to estimate when the
engineers will be able to commence a new solution implementation. In addition, our accounting for solution implementation contracts, which generate fixed
fees, sometimes require adjustments to profit and loss based on revised estimates during the performance of the contract. These adjustments may have a
material effect on our results of operations in the period in which they are made. The estimates giving rise to these risks, which are inherent in fixed-price
contracts, include the forecasting of costs and schedules, and contract revenues related to contract performance.
 
   
If we are not able to attract, retain, motivate, and strategically locate talented employees, including some key executives, our business may suffer.

Our success and competitiveness depend on our ability to attract, retain, motivate, and strategically locate in our offices around the globe, talented
employees, including some of our key executives. Achieving this objective may be difficult due to many factors, including fluctuations in global economic
and industry conditions, changes in our management or leadership, the hiring practices at our competitors or customers, cost reduction activities, and the
effectiveness of our compensation programs, including equity-based programs. Further, we have had, and expect to continue to have, difficulty in obtaining
visas permitting entry for some of our employees that are foreign nationals into the United States, and delays in obtaining visas permitting entry into other
key countries, for several of our key personnel, which disrupts our ability to strategically locate our personnel. If we lose the services of any of our key
executives or a significant number of our engineers, it could disrupt our ability to implement our business strategy. If we do not successfully attract, retain,
and motivate key employees, including key executives, we may be unable to realize our business objectives and our operating results may suffer.
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If we do not effectively manage, support, and safeguard our worldwide information systems, and integrate recent and planned growth, our business
strategy may fail.

We have experienced in the past, and may experience in the future, interruptions in our information systems on which our global operations depend.
Further, we may face attempts by others to gain unauthorized access through the Internet to our information technology systems, to intentionally hack,
interfere with, or cause physical or digital damage to or failure of such systems (such as significant viruses or worms), which attempts we may be unable to
prevent. We could be unaware of an incident or its magnitude and effects until after it is too late to prevent it and the damage it may cause. The
theft, unauthorized use, or a cybersecurity attack that results in the publication of our trade secrets and other confidential business information as a result of
such an incident could negatively affect our competitive position, the value of our investment in product or research and development, and third parties
might assert against us or our customers claims related to resulting losses of confidential or proprietary information or end-user data and/or system reliability.
In any such event, our business could be subject to significant disruption, and we could suffer monetary and other losses, including reputational harm. In
addition, we must frequently expand our internal information system to meet increasing demand in storage, computing and communication. Our internal
information system is expensive to expand and must be highly secure due to the sensitive nature of our customers’ information that we transmit. Building and
managing the support necessary for our growth places significant demands on our management and resources. These demands may divert these resources from
the continued growth of our business and implementation of our business strategy. Further, we must adequately train our new personnel, especially our client
service and technical support personnel, to effectively and accurately, respond to and support our customers. If we fail to do this, it could lead to
dissatisfaction among our customers, which could slow our growth.
 
Our stock price has been volatile in the past, and our earnings per share and other operating results may be unusually high in a given quarter, thereby
raising investors’ expectations, and then unusually low in the  next quarter, thereby disappointing investors, which could cause our stock price to  drop
again and increase potential dilution to our stockholders.

Our stock price has fluctuated widely during the last few years, from a low closing price of $0.97 per share during March 2009 to a high closing price of
$10.54 per share during May 2012. A factor in the volatility may be that our historical quarterly operating results have fluctuated. Our future quarterly
operating results will likely fluctuate from time to time and may not meet the expectations of securities analysts and investors in some future period, which
could cause our stock price to decrease again.  A significant reduction in our stock price negatively impacts our ability to raise equity capital in the public
markets and increases the cost to us, as measured by dilution to our existing shareholders, of equity financing. In addition, the reduced stock price also
increases the cost to us, in terms of dilution, of using our equity for employee compensation or for acquisitions of other businesses. A greatly reduced stock
price could also have other negative results, including the potential loss of confidence by employees, the loss of institutional investor interest, and fewer
business development opportunities.  Also, significant volatility in the stock price could be followed by a securities class action lawsuit, which could result
in substantial costs and a diversion of our management’s attention and resources.
 
 If we fail to protect our intellectual property rights, customers or potential competitors may be able to use our technologies to develop their own solutions
which could weaken our competitive position, reduce our revenue, or increase our costs.

Our success depends largely on the proprietary nature of our technologies. Our contractual, patent, copyright, trademark, and trade secret protection may
not be effective against any particular threat or in any particular location. Our pending patent applications may not result in issued patents, and even if
issued, they may not be sufficiently broad to protect our proprietary technologies. Litigation may be necessary from time to time to enforce our IP rights or to
determine the validity and scope of the proprietary rights of others. As a result of any such litigation, we could lose our proprietary rights and incur
substantial unexpected operating costs. Litigation could also divert our resources, including our managerial and engineering resources.
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Competition in the market for yield improvement solutions and increased integration between IC design and manufacturing may intensify in the future,
which could impede our ability to grow or execute our strategy.

Competition in our market may intensify in the future, which could slow our ability to grow or execute our strategy and could lead to increased pricing
pressure, negatively impacting our revenues. Our current and potential customers may choose to develop their own solutions internally, particularly if we are
slow in deploying our solutions or improving them to meet market needs. These and other competitors may be able to operate with a lower cost structure than
our engineering organization, which would give any such competitor’s products a competitive advantage over our solutions. We currently face indirect
competition from the internal groups at IC companies and some direct competition from providers of yield management or prediction software such as KLA-
Tencor, Mentor Graphics (through its acquisition of Ponte Solutions), Rudolph Technologies, Inc. (“Rudolph”) (through its acquisition of Yield Dynamics),
and Synopsys, Inc., and process control software, such as Applied Materials, Inc. (through its acquisition of the software division of Brooks Automation),
BISTel Inc., MKS Instruments, Inc., Rudolph and Trancom Technology, Inc.  Further, ARM Ltd. and Synopsys (through its acquisition of Virage Logic
Corporation) provide standard cells in the physical IP space and Tela provides software for standard cell synthesis, each of which could compete with our
pdBRIX™ solution. In addition, electronic design automation suppliers provide alternative DFM solutions that may compete for the same budgetary funds.
There may be other providers of commercial solutions for systematic IC yield and performance enhancement of which we are not aware. Further, some
providers of yield management software or inspection equipment may seek to broaden their product offerings and compete with us. In addition, we believe
that the demand for solutions that address the need for better integration between the silicon design and manufacturing processes may encourage direct
competitors to enter into our market. For example, large integrated organizations, such as IDMs, electronic design automation software providers, IC design
service companies or semiconductor equipment vendors, may decide to spin-off a business unit that competes with us. Other potential competitors include
fabrication facilities that may decide to offer solutions competitive with ours as part of their value proposition to their customers. If these potential
competitors change the pricing environment or are able to attract industry partners or customers faster than we can, we may not be able to grow and execute
our strategy as quickly or at all.

We face operational and financial risks associated with international operations that could negatively impact our revenue.

We have in the past expanded and reorganized, at different times, our non-U.S. operations and may in the future continue such expansion or
reorganization by establishing or restructuring international subsidiaries, offices, or contractor relationships in locations, if and when, deemed appropriate by
our management. Thus, the success of our business is subject to risks inherent in doing business internationally, including in particular:

 • some of our key engineers and other personnel are foreign nationals and they may have difficulty gaining access to the United States and other
countries in which our customers or our offices may be located and it may be difficult for us to recruit and retain qualified technical and managerial
employees in foreign offices;

 • greater difficulty in collecting account receivables resulting in longer collection periods;

 • language and other cultural differences may inhibit our sales and marketing efforts and create internal communication problems among our U.S. and
foreign research and development teams, increasing the difficulty of managing multiple, remote locations performing various development, quality
assurance, and yield ramp analysis projects;

 • compliance with, inconsistencies among, and unexpected changes in, a wide variety of foreign laws and regulatory environments with which we are
not familiar, including, among other issues, with respect to employees, protection of our IP, and a wide variety of operational regulations and trade
and export controls under domestic, foreign, and international law;

 • currency risk due to the fact that certain of our payables for our international offices are denominated in the local currency, including the Euro, Yen,
and RMB, while virtually all of our revenues is denominated in U.S. dollars;

 • quarantine, private travel limitation, or business disruption in regions affecting our operations, stemming from actual, imminent or perceived
outbreak of human pandemic or contagious disease;

 
  • in the event a larger portion of our revenues becomes denominated in foreign currencies, we would be subject to a potentially significant exchange

rate risk; and

 • economic or political instability, including but not limited to armed conflict, terrorism, interference with information or communication of networks
or systems,  and the resulting disruption to economic activity and business operations.

  

Revenues generated from customers in Asia accounted for 41%, 65% and 66% of our revenues in the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009,
respectively.  Thus, in Asia, in particular, we face the following additional risks:

 • a downturn in Asian economies which could limit our ability to retain existing customers and attract new ones in Asia; and

 • if the U.S. dollar increases in value relative to local currencies, including for example, the Japanese Yen, the cost of our solutions will be more
expensive to existing and potential local customers and therefore less competitive.

We use professionals located in Ramallah, Palestine, who provide various software-related development, quality assurance, maintenance, and other
technical support services for certain of our software products.  The political uncertainty surrounding the region could disrupt these service providers and
thus negatively affect the range of services we are able to provide or our cost for such services.
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Measurement of our Gainshare performance incentives requires data collection and is subject to customer agreement, which can result in uncertainty and
cause quarterly results to fluctuate.

We can only recognize revenue based on Gainshare performance incentives once we have reached agreement with our customers on their level of yield
performance improvements. Because measuring the amount of yield improvement is inherently complicated and dependent on our customers’ internal
information systems, there may be uncertainty as to some components of measurement. This could result in our recognition of less revenue than expected. In
addition, any delay in measuring revenue attributable to our Gainshare performance incentives could cause all of the associated revenue to be delayed until
the next quarter. Since we currently have only a few large customers and we are relying on Gainshare performance incentives as a significant component of
our total revenues, any delay could significantly harm our quarterly results.

Changes in the structure of our customer contracts, including the mix between fixed and variable revenue and the mix of elements, including perpetual and
term-based licenses, can adversely affect the amount and timing of our total revenues.

Our long-term success is largely dependent upon our ability to structure our future customer contracts to include a larger Gainshare performance
incentives component relative to the fixed fee component. We typically recognize the fixed fee component earlier than the gainshare performance incentives
component so if we are successful in increasing the Gainshare performance incentives component of our customer contracts, we will experience an adverse
impact on our operating results in the short term as we reduce the fixed fee component. Due to acquisitions and expanded business strategies, the mix of
elements in some of our contracts has changed recently and the relative importance of the software component in some of our contracts has increased. We
have experienced, and may in the future experience, delays in the expected recognition of revenue associated with generally accepted accounting principles
regarding the timing of revenue recognition in multi-element software arrangements, including the effect of acceptance criteria as a result of the change in our
contracts. If we fail to meet contractual acceptance criteria on time or at all, the total revenues we receive under a contract could be delayed or decline.
Further, if we mix term-based licenses with perpetual licenses, it will impact the timing of the recognition of revenue from that customer. In addition, by
increasing the Gainshare performance incentives or the software component, we may increase the variability or timing of recognition of our revenue, and
therefore increase the risk that our total future revenues will be lower than expected and fluctuate significantly from period to period.

We have a history of losses, we may incur losses in the future and we may be unable to reach, or thereafter maintain, profitability.

We have experienced losses in the fiscal years ended December 31, 2009 and in the past. We may not maintain profitability if our costs increase more
quickly than we expect or if revenues decrease. In addition, virtually all of our operating expenses are fixed in the short term, so any shortfall in anticipated
revenue in a given period could significantly reduce our operating results below expectations. Our accumulated deficit was $129 million as of December 31,
2011. We expect to continue to incur significant expenses in connection with:

 • funding for research and development;

 • expansion of our solution implementation teams;

 • expansion of our sales and marketing efforts; and

 • additional non-cash charges relating to amortization and stock-based compensation.

As a result, if we do not significantly increase revenues to maintain profitability on a quarterly or annual basis, our stock price could decline. We may be
subject to additional impairment of our long-lived assets, which could negatively affect our reported results.

Inadvertent disclosure of our customers’ confidential information could result in costly litigation and cause us to lose existing and potential customers.

Our customers consider their product yield information and other confidential information, which we must gather in the course of our engagement with
the customer, to be extremely competitively sensitive. If we inadvertently disclosed or were required to disclose this information, we would likely lose
existing and potential customers and could be subject to costly litigation. In addition, to avoid potential disclosure of confidential information to
competitors, some of our customers may, in the future, ask us not to work with key competitive products, which could limit our revenue opportunities.

Our technologies could infringe the intellectual property rights of others, causing costly litigation and the loss of significant rights.
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Significant litigation regarding intellectual property rights exists in the semiconductor industry. It is possible that a third party may claim that our
technologies infringe their intellectual property rights or misappropriate their trade secrets. Any claim, even if without merit, could be time consuming to
defend, result in costly litigation, or require us to enter into royalty or licensing agreements, which may not be available to us on acceptable terms, or at all. A
successful claim of infringement against us in connection with the use of our technologies could adversely affect our business.

Our ability to sell our products may depend on the quality of our support and services offerings, and our failure to offer high-quality support and services
could negatively affect our sales and results of operations.

Once our software products are integrated within our customers’ hardware and software systems, our customers may depend on our support organization
to resolve any issues relating to our products.  A high level of support is critical for the successful marketing and sale of our products.  If we do not effectively
assist our customers in deploying our products, succeed in helping our customers quickly resolve post-deployment issues, and provide effective ongoing
support, our ability to sell our software products to existing customers may be negatively affected, and our reputation with potential customers could be
harmed.  If our software customers have a poor perception of our support and services offerings, they may choose not to renew software support and
maintenance when the current period expires. In addition, due to our international operations, our support organization faces challenges associated with
delivering support, training, and documentation where the user’s native language may not be English.  If we fail to maintain high-quality support and
services, our customers may choose our competitors’ products instead of ours in the future.

Defects in our proprietary technologies, hardware and software tools, and the cost of support to remedy any such defects could decrease our revenue and
our competitive market share.

If the software, hardware, or proprietary technologies we provide to a customer contain defects that increase our customer’s cost of goods sold and time-
to-market or damage our customer’s property, these defects could significantly decrease the market acceptance of our solutions. Further, the cost of support
resources required to remedy any defects in our technologies, hardware, or software tools could exceed our expectations. Any actual or perceived defects with
our software, hardware, or proprietary technologies may also hinder our ability to attract or retain industry partners or customers, leading to a decrease in our
revenue. These defects are frequently found during the period following introduction of new software, hardware, or proprietary technologies or enhancements
to existing software, hardware, or proprietary technologies. Our software, hardware, and proprietary technologies may contain errors not discovered until after
customer implementation of the silicon design and manufacturing process recommended by us. If our software, hardware, or proprietary technologies contain
errors or defects, it could require us to expend significant resources to remedy these problems, which could reduce margins and result in the diversion of
technical and other resources from our other development efforts.

Failing to maintain the effectiveness of our internal controls over financial reporting could impede our ability to provide accurate and timely financial
information, which could cause our investors to lose confidence in the accuracy and completeness of our financial reports and could cause our stock price
to decline.

As of December 31, 2009 and 2010, we identified material weaknesses in connection with the evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over
financial reporting pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act (“Section 404”). These control deficiencies resulted in adjustments during the 2009
audit to our consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2009, and during the 2010 audit to our consolidated financial statements for
the year ended December 31, 2010. In the future, our management may identify additional deficiencies regarding the design and operating effectiveness of
our system of internal control. We may not be able to remediate such deficiencies in time to meet the continuing reporting deadlines imposed by Section 404
and the costs of remediation may be substantial.  A material weakness in our internal controls could result in a material misstatement not being prevented or
detected, which could result in the need for a restatement of past periods.  Moreover, our independent registered public accounting firm may deem that we did
not maintain, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting if we are unable to remediate deficiencies on a timely basis. If we fail
to remediate material weaknesses, fail to implement required new or improved controls, encounter difficulties in their implementation, or are unable at any
time to assert that we maintain effective internal controls, it could harm our operating results, cause us to fail to meet our SEC reporting obligations on a
timely basis, result in material misstatements, and our investors could lose confidence in the accuracy and completeness of our financial reports and our stock
price could decline.
 
 
Changes in effective tax rates could negatively affect our operating results and we may not be able to use tax credits before their expiration if we fail to
have sufficient future income.

We conduct our business globally and, as a result, are subject to taxation in the United States and foreign countries. Our future tax rates could be affected by
numerous factors, including changes in tax laws or the interpretation of such tax laws and changes in accounting policies. Our filings are subject to reviews or
audit by the Internal Revenue Service and state, local and foreign taxing authorities. We cannot be sure that any final determination in an audit would not be
materially different than the treatment reflected in our historical income tax provisions and accruals. If additional taxes are assessed as a result of an audit,
there could be a significant negative effect on our income tax provision and our operating results in the period or periods for which that determination is
made. Any changes in our geographical earnings mix in various tax jurisdictions, including those resulting from transfer pricing adjustments, could
materially increase our effective tax rate. Furthermore, we maintain deferred tax assets related to federal, state and foreign tax credits. Our ability to use these
credits prior to their expiration is dependent upon having sufficient future income.
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The uncertainty in the credit markets might impact the value of certain auction-rate securities we have and could negatively affect earnings in the future.

Credit concerns in the capital markets have significantly reduced our ability to liquidate auction-rate securities held by us. The liquidity of the securities
has been reduced by the uncertainty in the credit markets and the exposure of these securities to the financial condition of bond insurance companies. All
auction-rate securities we hold have been failing to sell at auction since February 2008 due to an insufficient number of bidders. We periodically review the
value of these securities for impairment. During the second quarter of 2012, the Company’s management made the decision to sell the securities based on its
assessment of improving market conditions. Consequently, the cumulative impairment related to these auction-rate-securities is recorded in interest and other
income (expense), net. If our assessment of market conditions is wrong or market conditions worsen, it could result in additional impairment, which will
negatively affect earnings.
Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

The table below sets forth the information with respect to purchases made by or on behalf of the Company or any “affiliated purchaser” (as the term is
defined in Rule 10b-18(a)(3) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934) of our common stock during the three months ended June 30, 2012 (in thousands
except per share amounts):

ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

 
 
 
 
 
Period  

Total
Number of

Shares
Purchased (2)   

 
 
 

Average
Price Paid
Per Share   

Total Number
of

Shares
Purchased as

Part of
Publicly

Announced
Plans

or Programs
(1)   

 
Approximate

Dollar
Value of Shares

that
May Yet Be
Purchased
Under the
Plans or

Programs(1)  
Month #4 (April 1, 2012 through April 30, 2012)   2  $ 7.54   2  $ 6,319 
Month #5 (May 1, 2012 through May 31, 2012)   137   8.82   137  $ 5,113 
Month #6 (June 1, 2012 through June 30, 2012)   106   8.68   106  $ 4,190 

Total   245  $ 8.75   245     
 

 (1) On October 29, 2007, the Board of Directors adopted a program to repurchase up to $10.0 million of the Company’s common stock on the open
market. The initial program was for three years, but on October 19, 2010, the Board of Directors authorized an extension of, and an increase in, the
program and the aggregate amount available to repurchase between October 19, 2010 and October 29, 2012 was reset to an additional $10.0
million of the Company’s common stock. As of June 30, 2012, 3.6 million shares had been repurchased at the average price of $4.19 per share
under this program and $4.2 million remained available for future repurchases.

 (2) Included in the shares indicated in the table above are shares that the Company withheld through net share settlements to cover tax withholding
obligations upon the vesting of restricted stock unit awards under the Company’s equity compensation plans.

 
Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities

None

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

None
 
Item 5. Other Information

None
 
 

34



 
 
Item 6. Exhibits

Exhibit
Number

  
Description

   
10.08  Letter regarding extension of the temporary employment offer with Michael Shahbazian with PDF Solutions, Inc., dated May 9, 2012.
   
31.01  Certification of the principal executive officer pursuant to Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a), as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of

the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
   
31.02  Certification of the principal financial and accounting officer pursuant to Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a), as Adopted Pursuant to

Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
   
32.01*  Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. *
   
32.02*  Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. *
 

 * As contemplated by SEC Release No. 33-8212, these exhibits are furnished with this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and are not deemed filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission and are not incorporated by reference in any filing of PDF Solutions, Inc. under the Securities Act of 1933 or the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, whether made before or after the date hereof and irrespective of any general incorporation language in any filings.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

 
 PDF SOLUTIONS, INC.  
   
    
Date: August 9, 2012 By: /s/ JOHN K. KIBARIAN  
  John K. Kibarian  
  President and Chief Executive Officer  
  (principal executive officer)  

Date: August 9, 2012 By: /s/ GREGORY WALKER  
  Gregory Walker  
  Vice President, Finance and Chief Financial Officer  
  (principal financial and accounting officer)  
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INDEX TO EXHIBITS

Exhibit
Number

  
Description

   
10.08  Letter regarding extension of the temporary employment offer with Michael Shahbazian with PDF Solutions, Inc., dated May 9, 2012.
   
31.01  Certification of the principal executive officer pursuant to Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a), as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of

the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
   
31.02  Certification of the principal financial and accounting officer pursuant to Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a), as Adopted Pursuant to

Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
   
32.01*  Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. *
   
32.02*  Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. *
 

 * As contemplated by SEC Release No. 33-8212, these exhibits are furnished with this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and are not deemed filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission and are not incorporated by reference in any filing of PDF Solutions, Inc. under the Securities Act of 1933 or the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, whether made before or after the date hereof and irrespective of any general incorporation language in any filings.
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Exhibit 10.08
 

PDF Solutions, Inc.
 

333 West San Carlos Street, Suite 700
San Jose, California   95110

 
May 9, 2012

VIA HAND DELIVERY and copy by EMAIL: michael.shahbazian@pdf.com

Mr. Michael Shahbazian
1291 Estate Drive
Los Altos, CA  94024

Re: Extension of Employment Offer – Temporary Position

Dear Michael,

Effective from May 11, 2012, we would like to extend the term of your temporary employment with PDF Solutions, Inc. through June 11, 2012
(the “Extended Period”). For the avoidance of doubt, your sole compensation for the Extended Period will be the salary at the same rate ($11,250 per
payroll period) paid to you in the same manner as set forth under your employment offer and in accordance with the Company’s standard payroll policies.

If you are in agreement with this offer, please sign and date a copy of this letter in the space provided below and return a copy to Gail Shih. Thank
you for agreeing to help us during this transition.
 
 
 

 

Sincerely,
PDF SOLUTIONS, INC.

/s/ John Kibarian
John K. Kibarian
President, Chief Executive Officer, and Director

 

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS & ACCEPTANCE

I understand that my employment at the Company is not a contract for a fixed term or specific period of time. I understand that my employment is voluntary
(“At Will”) and can be terminated either by me or by the Company at any time, with or without prior notice and with or without cause.  These provisions
supersede all prior representations or agreements, whether written or oral.   My “At Will” status may not be modified or amended except by a written
agreement, signed by the Company and me.

THE FOREGOING TERMS AND CONDITIONS
ARE HEREBY AGREED TO AND ACCEPTED:

Signed: /s/ Michael Shahbazian

Name: Michael Shahbazian

Date: May 15, 2012



EXHIBIT 31.01

CERTIFICATIONS

I, John K. Kibarian, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of PDF Solutions, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during
the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of
the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.
 
  /s/ JOHN K. KIBARIAN  
  John K. Kibarian  
  President and Chief Executive Officer  
  (principal executive officer)  
 
Date: August 9, 2012



EXHIBIT 31.02

CERTIFICATIONS

I, Gregory Walker, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of PDF Solutions, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during
the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of
the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.
 
 By: /s/ GREGORY WALKER  
  Gregory Walker  
  Vice President, Finance and Chief Financial Officer  
  (principal financial and accounting officer)  
 
Date: August 9, 2012
 



EXHIBIT 32.01

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of PDF Solutions, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2012 as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on August 9, 2012 (the “Report”), I, John K. Kibarian, President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify,
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to my knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and result of operations of the Company.
 
  /s/ JOHN K. KIBARIAN  
  John K. Kibarian  
  President and Chief Executive Officer  
  (principal executive officer)  
 
Date: August 9, 2012
 



EXHIBIT 32.02

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of PDF Solutions, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2012 as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on August 9, 2012 (the “Report”), I, Gregory Walker, Vice President, Finance and Chief Financial Officer, certify,
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to my knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and result of operations of the Company.
 

 By: /s/ GREGORY WALKER  
  Gregory Walker  
  Vice President, Finance and Chief Financial Officer  
  (principal financial and accounting officer)  
 
Date: August 9, 2012
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